Economy and Environment Program for Southeast Asia 22 Cross Street #02-55 South Bridge Court Singapore 048421 Tel: (65) 6438 7877 Fax: (65) 6438 4844 E-mail: eepsea@idrc.org.sg Web site: www.eepsea.org

RESEARCH REPORT

No. 2010-RR11

Cooperative Behavior, Social Capital and Development: Evidence from the Mekong River Delta in Vietnam

Mr. Pham Khanh Nam Faculty of Development Economics Ho Chi Minh City 1A Hoang Dieu Street, Phu Nhuan District, Ho Chi Minh City Tel: +84 8 38448222 Fax +84 8 38453897 E-mail: <u>khanhnam@ueh.edu.vn</u>

In developing communities, good governance is recognized as a key tool to tackle climate change and drive rural development. To shed light on this important issue, a new EEPSEA study from Vietnam has looked at two 'good governance' practices – leveraging social influences and social capital– to see whether they are appropriate policy tools for the country. The research is the work of a team led by Pham Khanh Nam from the Faculty of Development Economics at the University of Economics Ho Chi Minh City and the Environmental Economics Unit at the University of Gothenburg.

The study finds that social influence has a significant and substantial effect on the amount of money people are willing to contribute to a specific rural development project. This shows that using social influence is a good way to facilitate policy implementation. The study also finds that, in general, social capital at the individual level does not affect how farmers adapt to the climate change challenge. In Vietnam, there are only limited resources available to tackle development challenges. This study shows how good governance can be best used to address existing financial and human resource constraints. Published by the Economy and Environment Program for Southeast Asia (EEPSEA) 22 Cross Street, #02-55 South Bridge Court, Singapore 048421 (www.eepsea.org) Tel: +65-6438-7877, Fax: +65-6438-4844, Email: eepsea@idrc.org.sg

EEPSEA Research Reports are the outputs of research projects supported by the Economy and Environment Program for Southeast Asia. All have been peer reviewed and edited. In some cases, longer versions may be obtained from the author(s). The key findings of most *EEPSEA Research Reports* are condensed into *EEPSEA Policy Briefs*, available upon request. The Economy and Environment Program for Southeast Asia also publishes *EEPSEA Special Papers*, commissioned works with an emphasis on research methodology.

ISBN: 978-981-08-8748-3

The views expressed in this publication are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily represent those of the Economy and Environment Program for Southeast Asia or its sponsors. Unless otherwise stated, copyright for material in this report is held by the author(s). Mention of a proprietary name does not constitute endorsement of the product and is given only for information. This publication may be consulted online at www.eepsea.org.

Cooperative Behavior, Social Capital and Development: Evidence from the Mekong River Delta in Vietnam

Pham Khanh Nam

(with Fredrik Carlsson and Olof Johansson-Stenman)

February, 2011

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Financial support from Sida to the Environmental Economics Unit at the University of Gothenburg and EEPSEA (Economy and Environment Program for Southeast Asia) is gratefully acknowledged. Vic Adamowicz, Fredrik Carlsson, Olof Johansson-Stenman, Peter Martinsson, Matthias Sutter, Truong Dang Thuy, Jeffrey Vincent, Dale Whittington, and seminar participants at the University of Gothenburg, the Ho Chi Minh City University of Economics and the EEPSEA 33rd Biannual Workshop have provided valuable comments.

Comments should be sent to: Mr. Pham Khanh Nam Faculty of Development Economics, Ho Chi Minh City University of Gothenburg 1A Hoang Dieu Street, Phu Nhuan District, Ho Chi Minh City Tel: +84 8 38448222 Fax +84 8 38453897 E-mail: khanhnam@ueh.edu.vn

The Economy and Environment Program for Southeast Asia (EEPSEA) was established in May 1993 to support research and training in environmental and resource economics. Its objective is to enhance local capacity to undertake the economic analysis of environmental problems and policies. It uses a networking approach, involving courses, meetings, technical support, access to literature and opportunities for comparative research. Member countries are Thailand, Malaysia, Indonesia, the Philippines, Vietnam, Cambodia, Lao PDR, China, and Papua New Guinea.

EEPSEA is supported by the International Development Research Centre (IDRC); the Swedish International Development Cooperation Agency (Sida); and the Canadian International Development Agency (CIDA).

EEPSEA publications are also available online at http://www.eepsea.org.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

PAPER 1. FUNDING A NEW BRIDGE IN RURAL VIETNAM: A FIELD EXPERIMENT ON CONDITIONAL COOPERATION AND DEFAULT CONTRIBUTIONS

1.0 INTRODUCTION	3
2.0 THE VILLAGE AND THE NEED FOR A NEW BRIDGE	5
3.0 THE THRESHOLD PUBLIC GOODS GAME WITH REFUND POLICY AND PROPORTIONAL REBATE RULE	8
4.0 EXPERIMENTAL DESIGN	10
4.1 Stage 1. The field experiment	10
4.2 Stage 2. The household survey	13
5.0 RESULTS	14
5.1 Descriptive results	14
5.1 Econometric analysis	16
6.0 CONCLUSIONS	19
REFERENCES	21
APPENDIX 1	25
APPENDIX 2	27

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.	Household characteristics	7
Table 2.	OLS regressions on contribution and probit models on low and high contributions; reference contribution and default treatments	18

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure1.	Map and picture of the field situation	6
Figure 2.	The new bridge	14
Figure 3.	Plot of own contribution and guessed contribution of others	15

PAPER 2. SOCIAL CAPITAL AND PRIVATE ADAPTATION TO CLIMATE CHANGE: EVIDENCE FROM THE MEKONG RIVER DELTA IN VIETNAM	
1.0 INTRODUCTION	30
2.0 HOW CAN SOCIAL CAPITAL AFFECT PRIVATE ADAPTATION TO CLIMATE CHANGE?	32
3.0 THE VILLAGE AND ITS CLIMATE CHANGE PROBLEMS	33
4.0 MEASUREMENT OF SOCIAL CAPITAL AND ADAPTATION CHOICES AND ECONOMETRIC APPROACH	34
4.1 Adaptation variables	34
4.2 Social capital indicators	36
4.3 Sampling and econometric approach	38
5.0 RESULTS	39
6.0 DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION	44
REFERENCES	46
APPENDIX	49

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.	Households' characteristics description	34
Table 2.	Main adaptation measures	35
Table 3.	Descriptive statistics of social capital indicators	38
Table 4.	Correlation coefficients of social capital indicators	38
Table 5.	Multivariate probit estimate of adaptation in farming practices	41
Table 6.	Multivariate probit estimate of adaptation in domestic water usages	43

COOPERATIVE BEHAVIOR, SOCIAL CAPITAL AND DEVELOPMENT: EVIDENCE FROM THE MEKONG RIVER DELTA IN VIETNAM

Pham Khanh Nam

(with Fredrik Carlsson and Olof Johansson-Stenman)

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

In developing communities, good governance has become imperative to both responses to the emerging climate change problems and rural development. Getting good governance requires improvements in all dimensions of the public sector, e.g., democratic government, empowerment of the poor, access to market and participatory development. The good governance agenda, largely defined by international development communities, however, can overwhelm the developing countries' weak and imperfect institutions. Advocating good governance, thus, has been facing the question of what governance practices are applicable to the developing communities' contexts. This research report examines two governance practices that are potentially suitable for developing countries' institutions: social capital and nudging, i.e. using social influences, for development.

The present research report consists of two self-contained papers. The first paper examines the role of social influence in voluntary contributions to public goods. The second paper investigates the role of farmers' social capital in the adaptation to climate change.

The first focus of the present research report is about how institutions affect cooperative behavior. Elinor Ostrom and co-authors have carefully investigated the effects of different institutional settings for the abilities of local societies, in particular in developing countries, to effectively handle social dilemma-type situations; see e.g. Ostrom (1990). Yet, little has been done in this area regarding the direct effects of social influence on individuals' behavior. Such effects have instead been carefully analyzed in the rapidly growing literature on charitable giving (see, e.g., Soetevent, 2005; Landry et al., 2006; Alpizar et al. 2008; Shang and Croson, 2009; Soetevent, 2011). However, the extent to which these insights are transferable to the issue of contribution to real public goods, i.e. strategic interaction settings, in a developing country context is far from obvious. In the first paper, using a threshold public good experiment in a natural setting, we examine two types of social influence: i) conditional cooperation, i.e., that people may be more willing to cooperate if others cooperate, and *ii*) the effects of a default alternative, i.e., that people are often found to be influenced by a default alternative presented to them in the choice situation (see, e.g., Thaler and Sunstein, 2008). We find significant and substantial effects of both kinds of social influence. For example, by either giving the subjects the additional information that one of the most common contributions by others is 100,000 dong (a relatively low contribution), or by introducing

a zero contribution default alternative, the average contribution decreases by about 20% compared to the baseline case.

The second paper relates social aspects of individual i.e. social capital to a development issue – adaptation to climate change in Vietnam. Chinvanno et al. (2008) report that in order to cope with the impacts of climate change, rice farmers in the Mekong River Delta in Vietnam have mainly used their own household resources and have concentrated their adaptation actions within their farm boundaries. Faced with limited financial capability, instead of investing in costly defensive efforts such as small scale irrigation, farming households have used alternative adaptation strategies such as adjusting the crop calendar or using alternative crops and seed varieties. Studies on to what extent social capital determines households' choice of these adaptation measures may have distinct policy relevance since available resources such as social capital can be used up given chronic problems of human and financial resource constraints. In the fourth paper, we construct a set of social capital indexes that cover formal and informal social networks, trust, and cooperativeness. The first three social capital indexes are based on survey responses. The measure of cooperativeness is based on actual behavior of farmers in the public good experiment presented in the first paper. We then examine how these social capital indexes are associated with farmers' choice of private adaptation to climate change. We find that, in general, social capital at the individual level does not affect farmers' behavior with respect to private adaptation. Some forms of social capital such as formal and informal institutions, however, are weakly associated with the choice of different climate change adaptation measures in farming activities.

PAPER 1

FUNDING A NEW BRIDGE IN RURAL VIETNAM: A FIELD EXPERIMENT ON CONDITIONAL COOPERATION AND DEFAULT CONTRIBUTIONS

Fredrik Carlsson Olof Johansson-Stenman Pham Khanh Nam

ABSTRACT

The ability to provide public goods is essential for economic and social development, yet there is very limited empirical evidence regarding contributions to a real local public good in developing countries. This paper analyzes a field experiment where 200 households in rural Vietnam could make real contributions to an archetypical public good, a bridge. In particular, we study the role of two kinds of social influence: i) conditional cooperation, i.e., that people may be more willing to cooperate if others do, and ii) the effects of the default alternative, i.e., that people are influenced by the default alternative presented to them in the choice situation. We find significant and substantial effects of both kinds of influence. For example, by either giving the subjects the additional information that one of the most common contributions by others is 100,000 dong (a relatively low contribution) or introducing a zero-contribution default alternative, the average contribution decreases by about 20% compared to the baseline case.

1.0 INTRODUCTION

The ability to handle social dilemma-type situations, such as providing an adequate amount of public goods, and the corresponding free-rider problems is crucial for economic and social development (Hall and Jones, 1999; La Porta et al., 1999; Ostrom, 2009). In the present paper, we analyze experimentally the role of social influence, in terms of modified information about others' contribution and provision of default alternatives, for real contributions to an archetypical public good, a bridge (cf. Dupuit, 1844), in rural Vietnam. We conducted a field experiment designed as a threshold public good experiment. The subjects, consisting of the household heads of all households in the village, were asked to make voluntary contributions for the construction of a bridge in

their village. If a sufficient amount of money was contributed by the village members, the bridge would be built.

Most poor countries have weak or badly functioning governments, meaning that a large share of public goods have to be provided privately with the help of local institutions and mechanisms. Elinor Ostrom and co-authors have carefully analyzed the effects of different institutional settings for the abilities of local societies, in particular in developing countries, to effectively handle social dilemma-type situations; see, e.g., Dietz et al. (2003), Ostrom (1990, 2009), and Ostrom et al. (1992). Yet, little has been done in this area regarding the direct effects of social influence on individuals' behavior. Such effects have instead been carefully analyzed in the rapidly growing literature on charitable giving (see, e.g., List and Lucking-Riley, 2002; Landry et al., 2006; Shang and Croson, 2009; Alpizar and Martinsson, 2010; Soetevent, 2011). However, the extent to which these insights are transferable to the issue of contribution to real public goods in a developing country context is far from obvious. First, the charitable giving literature has primarily focused on relatively rich people's contribution, implying for example that the contributions have typically been small relative to the subjects' income. Second, the subjects' direct benefit of the good provided by the charity has typically been negligible, except for the warm glow effects of contributing to a good cause (cf. Andreoni, 1989, 1990).

In the present paper, we focus on two types of social influence: *i*) conditional cooperation, i.e., that people may be more willing to cooperate if others cooperate (see, e.g., Gächter, 2007), and *ii*) the effects of a default alternative, i.e., that people are often found to be influenced by a default alternative presented to them in the choice situation (see, e.g., Thaler and Sunstein, 2008). To find out whether and to what extent these kinds of social influence matter for people's voluntary contributions to local public goods is important from a policy perspective. For example, the choice of frame for a particular policy implementation can be modified to some extent by aid organizations, NGOs, and local decision makers at the village level.

Many experimental results can be interpreted in terms of conditional cooperation. For example, Fischbacher et al. (2001) found, based on the strategy method, that about 50% of the subjects increase their contribution in a one-shot public good game if others do so as well. Fischbacher and Gächter (2010) concluded that conditional cooperation appears to be the main reason behind the typically observed pattern of decreasing cooperation rates in repeated public goods games. For our purpose, evidence from the field is particularly interesting. Frey and Meier (2004) analyzed the behavior of students in Zurich who had the opportunity to contribute to two social funds every semester. The contributions were higher when they were informed that many other students were contributing, although the effect was not statistically significant. In a field-experimental setting, Alpizar et al. (2008) investigated people's voluntary contribution to a natural park. When the subjects were told that the typical contribution of others was \$2 (a small contribution), the probability of a contribution increased and the conditional contribution decreased, compared with no provision of reference information. Providing a high reference level (\$10) increased the conditional contribution, whereas the probability of contribution remained unaffected. The overall effects of the reference information were quite modest. Shang and Croson (2009) investigated how information about a typical

contribution to a radio station affects subject contributions and found that the highest reference amount (\$300) yielded a significantly higher contribution than no provision of any information. The direction for smaller amounts (\$75 and \$180) was the same, although not statistically significant.

There is also much empirical evidence that a default alternative matters for actual choices in many areas such as pension savings (Madrian and Shea, 2001; Choi et al., 2004; Cronqvist and Thaler, 2004), car insurance (Johnson et al., 1993), and health clubs (DellaVigna and Malmendier, 2006). With respect to pro-social behavior, Johnson and Goldstein (2003) compared countries with different organ donation rules and found that countries where people by default *are not* donors, i.e., people have to opt-in to become donors, had a significantly and substantially lower fraction of people donating compared to countries where people by default *are* donors, even though they had the same freedom of choice in both cases.¹ Pichert and Katsikopoulosa (2008) showed that "green" defaults could have significant effects on the choice of green electricity; when customers had to opt-out in order to buy non-green electricity many more customers bought green electricity. On the other hand, Löfgren et al. (2010) did not find any default effects on the choice of CO₂ offsets for air transport using a sample of experienced subjects.

Yet, as far as we know, no previous studies have tried to quantify the treatment effects of information about the contributions of others or of default alternatives on voluntary contributions to a real local public good – let alone in a developing country where this is presumably more important. This is the task of the present paper, of which the remainder is organized as follow: Section 2 provides the background of the Giong Trom village in rural Vietnam and its need for a new bridge. Section 3 presents the theoretical model, Section 4 the field-experimental design, and Section 5 the corresponding results. Finally, Section 6 concludes the paper.

2.0 THE VILLAGE AND THE NEED FOR A NEW BRIDGE

The field experiment was undertaken in Giong Trom village in the Mekong River Delta in Vietnam in 2009.² Most households in the village are engaged in rice cultivating activities. The village suffers one of the problems typical of the Mekong River Delta: the lack of a basic infrastructure such as rural roads, bridges, and irrigation canals. The government only provides larger public goods such as roads between villages. The small-scale infrastructure within a village is considered to be the responsibility of the village.

The field experiment concerns funding of a bridge for the village. At the time of the experiment, there was a wooden bridge about two meters wide and 14 meters long, made in 2005. People living along the two roads in the village used the pathway and the bridge to go through the rice fields (see Figure 1). Some villagers used the bridge to go to the market, visit friends, or go to schools if the bridge was in good condition. If they do not use the bridge, they have to use alternative routes, either road A or road B, which are

¹ However, it should be noted that there might be some endogeneity problems here, since the rules may in part reflect different donation attitudes among the countries.

² A village is a small commune or part of a commune and usually consists of 100-300 households.

located parallel to and about 1,200 meters from the bridge's pathway; see the map in Figure 1. The wooden bridge was highly degraded and could not be used by tractors or motorbikes. In 2005, the households in this village actually contributed to build the bridge. Since the contributions were not enough for a concrete bridge, a wooden one was built. There are about 200 households on both sides of the bridge and they would all clearly benefit from a concrete bridge. All village households were included in our experiment.



The wooden bridge

Figure 1: Map and picture of the field situation

In order to build a new bridge, a sufficient amount of money had to be collected from the villagers. This is where the experiment comes in: We devised a threshold public good game, in which villagers received an endowment from us and had the option to either keep the money themselves or contribute some or everything to the funding of the bridge. The concrete bridge is a public good in the sense that irrespective of whether the participants wanted to contribute to the public account, they would have the right to use the bridge free of charge. Table 1 reports background statistics of the households.

Variables	Definition	Mean	Std. dev.
Household size	Number of household members	3.84	1.61
Age	Household head age; in years	49.0	13.8
Male	= 1 if male household head	0.62	
Education	1 = No schooling (5%); 2 = Grade 1-5 (53%); 3 = Grade $6 - 9$ (32%); 4 = Grade 10 - 12 (9%); 5 = Vocational school (1%) for household head	2.47	0.77
Monthly income	Monthly household monetary income in hundred thousand dong	18.13	12.78
Uses the bridge daily ³	= 1 if uses bridge every day	0.19	
Uses the bridge weekly	= 1 if uses bridge around $1 - 3$ times a week	0.10	
Uses the bridge twice a month	= 1 if uses bridge around 2 times a month	0.17	
Uses the bridge once a month	= 1 if uses bridge around 1 time a month	0.30	
Cost of social events	Monthly expenditures for "social events," e.g., weddings, and different kinds of ceremonies in hundred thousand dong	1.96	1.38
Member of the communist party	= 1 if at least one household member is a member of the communist party	0.10	
Association	= 1 if at least one household member is a member of a local association	0.49	
Punish	How likely is it that people who do not participate in community activities will be criticized or sanctioned? = 1 very unlikely = 5 very likely	2.41	1.51
Rice land	Total size of rice land currently being cultivated; in congs ($1 \text{ cong} = 1/10 \text{ hectare}$)	4.54	3.23
Saturday	= 1 if experiment was conducted on Saturday afternoon (first session)	0.57	0.49

Table 1. Household characteristics

³ The options for the question regarding the current use of the bridge were: 1 = Every day, 2 = Around two to three times a week, 3 = Around once a week, 4 = Around twice a month, 5 = Around once a month or less, 6 = Currently do not use the bridge at all. Since relatively few answered options 2 and 3, we merged them in the descriptive statistics and in the analysis.

The mean monthly income of about 1.8 million dong corresponds to about 95 USD, which is less than one USD per household member and day. The average household in the study is thus poor and the average education level is very low. The average size of the land a family is currently cultivating rice on is also rather small, approximately half of a hectare. Although the current bridge is degraded, it is still used by almost half of the households at least twice a month, and almost 20% use it every day.⁴ The large average amount spent on social events, around 200 thousand dong per month or 13% of the total monthly household expenditure, reflects the importance of such events, including weddings and funerals. This cost may perhaps also reflect the social coherence of the family with the community. Around 10% of subjects are members of the communist party and approximately half of the families are members of at least one local association such as the Farmers', Women's or Veteran's Associations or the Youth Union. These variables are included in our analysis in order to test for possible associated social capital effects of belonging to these organizations on voluntary contributions. The variable Punish is included in order to test whether people's subjective perceptions of the strength of the social norms regarding free-riding affect actual contributions. This was assessed with the question "How likely is it that people who do not participate in community activities will be criticized or sanctioned?"

Based on *t*-tests, proportion tests, and chi-square tests, we cannot reject the hypothesis of equal distributions of household characteristics among the five different treatments, with one important exception: Although the five treatments (defined below) were randomly assigned to the households, the share of subjects who used the bridge often is significantly (and substantially) higher in treatment 3 than in all other treatments. Since this turns out to be an important explanatory variable for actual contributions, it will of course have implications for how to best analyze our data.

3.0 THE THRESHOLD PUBLIC GOOD GAME WITH A REFUND POLICY AND PROPORTIONAL REBATE RULE

The experiment is based on a threshold public goods game⁵ (Isaac et al., 1989; Bagnoli and McKee, 1991; Cadsby and Maynes, 1999; Croson and Marks, 2000; Rondeau et al., 2005) with a refund policy and proportional rebate rule framework (e.g., Marks and Croson, 1998). In such a game, an identical endowment *E* is provided to each of *N* subjects; in our case E = 400,000 dong and N = 200. Each subject *i* decides privately how much x_i of the endowment to contribute to the public good. When the total contribution is larger than the threshold *T*, the public good will be provided; in our case, the bridge would be built if the total contributions would exceed 40,000,000 dong,

⁴ In the analysis, we will assume that the current use of the bridge is a good indicator of the use of the new bridge. For most households, this is most likely a reasonable assumption.

⁵ This framework relates closely to the lump-sum matching setting discussed in several papers (e.g., Baker II et al., 2009), where total contributions often are greater than with a standard voluntary contribution mechanism. However, if, in the matching setting, the contributions to the public goods do not meet the minimum requirement, those contributions still generate earnings for the subjects. In this threshold public good game setting, if the threshold cannot be reached, the refund policy is applied.

corresponding to an average contribution of 200,000 dong. In this case, subject *i*'s net payoff would equal the sum of the net private consumption after contributing x_i , which hence equals $E - x_i$, the own benefit from the public good G_i , and a share of the excess contributions in proportion to the magnitude of the own contribution relative to the total contributions. Individual *i*'s payoff function π_i is then given by the first line on the right-hand side below:

$$\pi_i = \begin{cases} E - x_i + G_i + \left(\sum_j^N x_j - T\right) \frac{x_i}{\sum_j^N x_j} & \text{if } \sum_j^N x_j > T \\ E & \text{if } \sum_j^N x_j < T \end{cases}$$

If, on the other hand, the total contributions fall below the threshold T, the public good will not be provided; in our case, the bridge would not be built. In this case, all contributions would be returned to the subjects, such that the payoff for each subject would simply equal the initial endowment E, as given by the second line on the right-hand side above.

It is clear that there are an infinite number of Nash equilibria in this game. In addition to the ones where no bridge is built and where each individual does not contribute anything, we have a continuum of Nash equilibria where the total contributions exactly equal the threshold level. Note that this is of course true regardless of whether the actual distribution of contributions is symmetric; for further details see Palfrey and Rosenthal (1984) and Bagnoli and Lipman (1989).

However, in our case we have that N is rather large (200),⁶ implying that the probability that the individual contribution decision will be decisive for whether the bridge will be built or not is small. It is easy to show that the condition for when an individual's choice has the potential of being decisive is that $\frac{N-2}{N-1} < \frac{x_{-i}}{T/N} < \frac{N}{N-1}$, where x_{-i} is the average of the others' contribution. In our case, where N = 200 and T = 10040,000,000 dong, an individual can affect the decision of whether to build the bridge when $198,995 < x_{i} < 201,005$, where x_{i} denotes the average contribution when disregarding *i*'s contribution. This is clearly a narrow range. When x_{-i} is sufficiently low, i.e., smaller than 198,995 dong, the individual contribution does not matter at all, since the individual will receive E regardless of his/her own contribution. When x_{-i} is sufficiently large, i.e., larger than 201,005 dong, the bridge will be built regardless of how much the individual contributes. Moreover, in this case the unique best response of the individual is to contribute nothing, i.e., to free-ride. Given this narrow range where the individual contribution matters for the decision of whether to build the bridge, and given the large range where the unique optimal response, based on conventional selfinterested preferences, is to contribute nothing, we believe it is reasonable to interpret the

⁶ In our case, it is realistic to assume that the group size is known and certain for the subjects since it was stated explicitly in the contribution agreement signed by the subjects, and they are well aware that all households in the village use the bridge; see de Kwaadsteniet et al. (2008) for discussions on uncertain group size impacts on cooperation.

individual contribution as a measure of the strength of social preferences, or cooperative behavior. Yet, one could argue that the unique symmetric efficient equilibrium where each household contributes 200,000 dong could serve as a focal point for the subject; cf. Schelling (1960). We will return to this issue in the results section.

4.0 EXPERIMENTAL DESIGN

Our experimental design includes two stages. The first stage consisted of the field experiment with 200 households in Giong Trom village in Vietnam, while in the second stage, conducted four weeks after the experiment, a team of experimenters visited the same households to collect socio-economic data and other information that can help explain the experimental results.

4.1 Stage 1. The Field Experiment

In collaboration with an NGO we conducted the field experiment that involved five treatments: (1) a standard treatment with no reference contribution level and no default option, (2) a treatment with a high reference contribution level (300,000 dong) and no default option, (3) a treatment with a low reference contribution level (100,000 dong) and no default option, (4) a treatment with no reference contribution level and a default option at zero contribution and (5) a treatment with no reference contribution level and a default option at full contribution of the endowment. In all treatments, the contributions were anonymous to everybody except the experimenter. For ethical and practical reasons, the endowment of 400,000 dong was, following standard practice, a windfall gain for the subjects.⁷

Following Alpizar et al. (2008), the treatments with different reference contribution levels were conducted by providing the subjects with information about a typical previous contribution of others. The typical contribution levels were obtained from the first no reference contribution treatment during the first day, i.e., from the treatment where we did not tell the subjects anything regarding others' contributions. Subjects were told that "we have interviewed other households in this village and one of the most common contributions has been 300,000 [100,000] dong." This statement reveals information about the typical behavior and not about any individual contributions. Thus, this conveys more information about the social norm than just stating the contribution of one other person.

The default option treatments were conducted using a metal card with different contribution levels. Zero dong was at the bottom of the metal card, 400,000 dong was at the top of the card, and there were in total 9 amounts on the metal card. A magnetic token

⁷ The empirical evidence on windfall gains in public good games is not clear. Cherry et al. (2005) and Clark (2002) find no evidence of a windfall-gain effect on contributions, while Kroll et al. (2007) find significant differences in a public good experiment with heterogeneous endowment. Yet, while it is certainly possible that windfall gains affect behavior in a non-negligible way, our main interest is in the comparison between treatments and not in the absolute values, and we have no particular reason to believe that windfall gains would affect behavior differently among the treatments.

was put at the 0 dong level or at the 400,000 dong level. Subjects in the corresponding treatments were asked to move the token to the amount that they wanted to contribute to the public good. There are several potential reasons why the default alternative could affect the subjects' choices. First, they might interpret the default alternative as indicative of the experimenter's expectations, in our case the expectations of the project. Second, they could interpret it as information about what others do. Third, it could serve as a simple anchoring effect.

Several considerations were made when deciding the size of the endowment and the threshold. The endowment couldn't be higher than the cost of building the bridge. Furthermore, a too high endowment could make subjects feel coerced to contribute some money and a too low endowment could seem unrealistic to the subjects, making us unable to observe sufficient variation in contribution levels.

Since we wanted the contribution decisions to be reasonably well informed and reflective, we felt it was necessary to provide some information about the possibility of building a bridge before the actual experiment took place. Specifically, we asked local officials to ask villagers about alternatives for the bridge, and whether they wanted a new bridge. One week before the experiment we held a meeting with local officials and some representative households, where we went into more details about funding options for the establishment of the bridge. One of the options mentioned at the meeting was the possibility of a matching fund mechanism, in which villagers would contribute some proportion of the bridge costs and external donors would contribute the rest. At the meeting, we also discussed that a project team would visit households in the village in the next few weeks to ask about the "demand for the bridge" for the donors to decide whether or not a bridge should be built. Thus, the targeted group was given the possibility to absorb the information about a potential new bridge systematically over a relatively long time, such that they were not surprised when someone approached their home asking about contribution to the bridge. However, they did not know the details regarding funding and their own role until this information was given to them as part of the experiment instructions. Furthermore, it was in no way decided that the bridge would be built. The information was not detailed enough to enable the households to agree on a response before the experiment. These pre-experimental tasks also helped us achieve a 100% participation rate and assure credibility of the experiment. It should also be noted that local public goods are funded in a similar fashion from time to time in the area, and that the old bridge was actually funded by voluntary contributions of households in the village.

With the help of local officials, we were able to set up a list of household subjects. We then randomly allocated these to our experimenters. The five treatments were also randomly distributed among the experimenters. To make the subjects feel as accustomed as possible to the situation, we did not conduct the experiment in a common venue where participants came to make decisions, as seen in standard public good games. Instead, the subjects made contribution decisions in their own homes. This approach created an environment similar to other investment decisions that the families make in daily life and helped limit communication in our group of 200 subjects. Another advantage of this was that it facilitated, in most cases, joint family decisions⁸ rather than decisions made by single family representatives.

In the experiment, the experimenter initially introduced himself or herself as a member of the bridge project team who would like to know the demand for the bridge in order to make a final decision on the construction of the bridge. The experimenter proceeded by reading the experimental instructions and showing the subject the example cards (see Appendix 2). The threshold was explained with the following sentences.

"The concrete bridge will be established if all families together contribute at least 40 million dong. This means that if the total contribution is equal to or above 40 million dong, the project will use this money, add more funding in order to meet the costs of the bridge, and take the responsibility to build the bridge. If the total amount of money collected exceeds 40 million dong, the excess amount will be returned to your family according to the proportion you contributed.

If the families are unable to contribute a total of 40 million dong, your contribution will be returned to you, and the concrete bridge will not be built."

The actual cost of building the bridge was around 80 million dong, but since we did not have an exact cost estimate at the time of the experiment, we did not mention an explicit amount. Moreover, although there is always a non-negligible degree of uncertainty regarding the actual cost in a decision such as the present one, the supporting money meant that we could specify exact conditions for when the bridge would and would not be built. After this part, the experimenter presented the agreement. The agreement stated that the endowment of 400,000 dong would belong to the household. It also summarized the rules of the contribution framework⁹ as well as stated a date of payment, and had spaces for the signatures of the household and project representatives. Once the household had decided about its contribution, the amount was written on two photocopies of the agreement, which were then signed by the household representative. Each party kept one copy of the agreement. We could not pay them the cash directly, since the payment depended on the behavior of others.

Conducting the experiment at the individual households' homes presented two major challenges. First, we faced the risk that the information could spread among village members before all subjects had made their decisions. Such a spread of information could take place mainly through two channels: villager-to-villager and local officials-tovillagers. We were more concerned about the latter channel since local officials naturally wanted the bridge and could choose to visit the villagers and pressure them to contribute at least the level of the symmetric threshold efficient equilibrium, i.e., 200,000 dong. In order to reduce the risk of information spread, we had to use a larger number of

⁸ One story told by an experimenter was that after listening to the context and reading the agreement, a husband told us that his family would like to contribute 300,000 dong to the bridge. Then the experimenter saw the wife kick her husband's leg under the table, and finally they decided to contribute 100,000 dong.

⁹ In the agreement, it was made clear that the project and not the local government would be responsible for building the new bridge if the threshold could be reached. This helped avoid possible problems with distrust in the government.

experimenters than in a standard experiment. After balancing several factors such as number of experimenters, time requirement for a decision, and risk of information spread, we decided to conduct the experiment on a Saturday afternoon and on the following Sunday morning using 15 experimenters. Another purpose of choosing Saturday and Sunday was to limit the observation or intervention of other local government officials since they were off work. Using 15 experimenters meant that we could conduct the experiment at 15 households at time. The experiments were conducted in such a way that each household's closest neighbors conducted the experiment at the same time, in order to reduce the risk of information spread. Finally, we used the fact that the bridge was severely degraded and conducted the experiment on one side of the bridge on Saturday and on the other side on Sunday.

This set-up of the experiment required the 15 experimenters to each make 13 to 14 visits. Each visit took on average 20 minutes. Due to the challenge of experimenter bias, we took great care in the process of recruitment and training. The experimenters were recruited via advertisements at the University of Economics in Ho Chi Minh City. We selected only those who met our requirements regarding personality and ability to talk with farmers, e.g., those with the appropriate dialect. The selected persons went through extensive training in the classroom and in the field. They spent nearly one week practicing the experiment in role-play pairs and for pilot interviews with farmers. Moreover, before the experiment, the experimenters had spent more than one month in a similar rural area in connection with another survey, so they understood well what to do and what not to do when visiting a household. We also prepared a list of questions and answers related to the project, and to the establishment of the bridge in particular, so that the experimenters would have similar answers to common questions. During the training and practice sessions, the experimenters were repeatedly told about the importance of using the exact prescribed wording of the experiment scenarios. They were also required to repeat the scenario until the subject understood it without any further explanation.

4.2 Stage 2. The Household Survey

Four weeks after the experiment, all the households were visited by a group of enumerators (not the same ones as we used in the experiment). The enumerators said that they came from the university to collect data for research purposes. This survey was part of a larger research project concerning villagers' adaptation to climate change. The part of the questionnaire that relates to this project includes a socio-economic demography section (e.g., income, assets, age, education etc.) and a section on social capital (e.g., association social capital indexes, trust questions etc.). There were two questions regarding the household's current use of the bridge. The purpose of these questions was to classify bridge users into two groups: low and high demand for the bridge.

5.0 **RESULTS**

5.1 Descriptive Results

In total, 200 households participated in the experiment. The overall average contribution was substantial, 270,000 dong, and a large majority (78%) of the subjects contributed the threshold level or more. These are extremely large contribution levels compared to most contribution levels observed in threshold public good games; see Croson and Marks (2000) for a review. The levels are particularly striking as there is evidence that thresholds, if anything, tend to reduce contributions (Rondeau and List, 2008; Rauchdobler et al., 2010). Yet the results are consistent with previous findings on contribution levels of around 70% of the endowment in a public good game conducted with poor Vietnamese households. Moreover, Cardenas and Carpenter (2008) found large cooperation rates more generally in various kinds of field experiments conducted in developing countries.

It is also likely that many of the households would greatly benefit from building the bridge, even though each household would of course financially benefit even more from free-riding. In all five treatments, the average contribution is above the threshold of 200,000 dong. Consequently, the bridge was actually built; see Figure 3 for a picture of the new bridge. The Appendix presents the basic results of the experiment. However, since, as mentioned, the randomization procedure unfortunately did not result in similar distributions among the sub-samples with respect to a key explanatory variable, the use of the bridge, we will focus our analysis on the results from a regression analysis.



Figure 2. The new bridge

At the end of the experiment, the subjects were asked to guess how much they believed other households would contribute. This question was not incentivized, since we wanted to avoid them thinking of the visit as part of a research study.¹⁰ Twenty-two

¹⁰ There are potential problems with eliciting beliefs, although the major problem of learning does not concern our experiment since it is a one-shot game (see, e.g., Rutström and Wilcox, 2010). In addition, Gächter and Renner (2010) show that incentivized beliefs increase belief accuracy in a 10-period public

percent of the subjects said they could not make a guess, and they were not forced to do so.¹¹ Figure 3 presents own contribution and the guessed contribution of others; we include all observations from all five treatments and the size of a bubble corresponds to number of subjects.



Figure 3. Plot of own contribution and guessed contribution of others

There is a strong correlation between own contribution and the guessed contribution of others; the correlation coefficient is 0.62. A large proportion of subjects who donated 400,000 believed that others would contribute 300,000 or 400,000 dong, and a large proportion of subjects who donated 100,000 dong believed that others would contribute 100,000 or 200,000 dong. The graph suggests that there are three main categories of subjects, where the categories are not exclusive: i) Conditional cooperators, i.e., those who contribute the same amount as they guess that others on average would contribute, can be illustrated in Figure 3 as the 45-degree line through the origin; 45 percent of the subjects are consistent with conditional cooperation according to this

good game, whereas beliefs in the first periods in incentivized and non-incentivized treatments are not affected. Moreover, the relationships between beliefs and contribution are identical in incentivized and non-incentivized treatments.

¹¹ There could be a number of reasons for someone not to make a guess, ranging from simply not having any idea about what others are responding to wanting to avoid an explicit comparison with own contribution. We estimated a binary probit model where the dependent variable is one if the subject did not make a guess. None of the treatment effects are significant. The only significant effects we find are that older subjects are more likely not to make a guess, and that subjects were more likely to make a guess on the first day of the experiment.

definition. *ii*) Those who contributed the full amount irrespective of how much they thought others would contribute. This group can thus be seen as the horizontal line at the top of the graph; 45 percent are consistent with this contribution pattern. *iii*) Those who contributed their fair share regardless of their expectation about others' contribution. This group can be illustrated by a horizontal line at the contribution level 200; 25 percent are consistent with this pattern. At the same time, in some of the treatments, subjects received information about others' behavior. This might not only affect their behavior, but also the expectations about others' behavior. However, the treatment effects on the guesses regarding others' contribution behavior are surprisingly small, and in all cases, the average guess is lower than in the reference treatment. The Appendix presents the results of a simple regression model with the guessed contribution of others as the dependent variable. All coefficients of the treatments are negative, yet insignificant.¹²

As discussed in Section 3, a public good game has a unique symmetric efficient equilibrium, where each household would believe that all other households would contribute 200,000 dong, and thus they also would contribute 200,000 dong. However, Figure 3 shows that although a substantial fraction (34%) of the subject believed that others would contribute 200,000 dong, this is still a minority. Moreover, many of those who expected others to on average contribute 200,000 dong did not contribute this amount themselves. Overall, only 14% both contributed 200,000 dong and expected others to on average contribute this amount.

5.2 Econometric analysis

Since there are some rather substantial differences between the samples in terms of their use of the bridge, it is important to control for the effect of the socio-economic characteristics. The first model we estimated is a standard OLS model where the dependent variable is the level of contribution; we also estimated a Tobit model with censoring at zero and 400,000, and the results are very similar to the ones of the OLS model.¹³ We also estimate two probit models: In the first model, the dependent variable is equal to one if the contribution was 100,000 or less, whereas in the second model the dependent variable is equal to one if the determinants of contributing a small or a large amount, respectively. In addition, we estimate all three models with and without two important variables that could be correlated with the socio-economic characteristics and the treatment effects: *i*) the variable measuring whether they think it is likely that people who do not participate in community activities are punished and *ii*) the expectation regarding others' contributions. The results are presented in Table 2. In all models, we include dummy variables for the experimenters.

The regression results show that when controlling for household characteristics, there is a significantly lower average contribution in the treatment with a low reference

¹² This result is roughly in line with Altmann and Falk (2009), who found that the differences in beliefs between two default treatments and the base case were not significant, although the descriptive results show an increase in the expected sum of contributions by other group members from the default at zero contribution treatment to the default at full contribution treatment.

¹³ These results are available from the authors upon request.

contribution than in the treatment without any reference information. At the bottom of the table, we also report F-tests of the hypothesis of equal treatment coefficients, and this reveals that there is a significantly lower average contribution in the treatment with a low reference contribution than in the treatment with a high reference contribution. On average, subjects contributed 67,000 dong less – from an endowment of 400,000 dong – in the low-reference contribution treatment than in the treatment without any reference information (in the first regression model). However, there is no significant difference between the standard treatment and the high-reference contribution treatment. Note also that if the respondents were to act strategically based on pure self interest, we would if anything be observing that people contributed less if they believed that others were going to contribute more. Consequently, to the extent that such a strategic effect exists, the measured effects of social influence are underestimated. If people are informed that one of the most common contributions by others is 100,000 dong, they tend to contribute around 67,000 dong less themselves, whereas if they are told that one of the most common contributions by others is 300,000 dong there is no difference compared to not saying anything about others' contribution. Given that the overall average contribution in the experiment (270,900 dong) is not very far from 300,000 dong, this result is not surprising.

Similarly, the two probit models reveal that it is more likely (around 27 percentage points more likely) that subjects give 100,000 dong or less and less likely (around 24 percentage points less likely) that they give 300,000 dong or more when they are told that a common contribution is 100,000 dong; both of these effects are significant. However, just as in the OLS model on the level of contribution, there are no significant effects of the high reference contribution treatment.

For the default treatments, we find that the zero-contribution default has a larger effect than the full-contribution default. Yet, similar to the reasoning above regarding the effect of reference contribution levels, this need not mean that a full-contribution default does not have an effect in general, since in our experiment the contribution levels are on average very high. A zero-contribution default, compared to no default, reduces the contribution by about 54,000 dong, which is a substantial amount corresponding to about 20% of the average contribution. A comparison of the full-contribution and zero-contribution defaults reveals that the difference in contributions is only significant in the second model. Moreover, the two probit regressions reveal that it is less likely (around 20-28 percentage points less) that subjects give 300,000 dong or more with the zero-contribution default than with no default contribution. There is however no significant effect on the likelihood of giving 100,000 dong or less.

Among the household characteristics, how much the household used the bridge is an important determinant of the amount of money contributed to the bridge. In the model where we do not include the expected contribution of others, households that used the bridge every day contributed, on average, around 115,000 dong more than households that did not use the bridge (the reference category). There are, however, no significant effects of age, gender of household head, level of education, size of land, or household income on contribution. Among the variables intended to measure social capital, only the social events variable is significant. Households with high monthly expenditures for social events contributed significantly more than other families.

	OLS: Con	tribution in	Probit:= 1 if		Probit: $= 1$ if	
	thousa	nd dong	contribution	$n \le 100,000$	contribution	$n \ge 300,000$
	Model 1	Model 2	Model 1 Model 2		Model 1	Model 2
	-14.737	3.348	-0.002	0.001	0.001	0.106
High reference contribution	(27.717)	(21.992)	(0.086)	(0.028)	(0.124)	(0.158)
	-67.093**	-54.077**	0.271**	0.302*	-0.240**	-0.277*
Low reference contribution	(28.297)	(22.802)	(0.132)	(0.156)	(0.124)	(0166)
	-15.220	-7.351	0.007	0.012	-0.026	0.062
Default at full contribution	(27.638)	(22.105)	(0.089)	(0.036)	(0.127)	(0.173)
	-54.275*	-55.724**	0.120	0.151	-0.193	-0.284*
Default at zero contribution	(28.285)	(22.430)	(0.111)	(0.119)	(0.123)	(0.155)
TT 1 11 '	4.811	2.960	-0.007	-0.002	0.025	0.020
Household size	(5.883)	(4.710)	(0.017)	(0.005)	(0.025)	(0.038)
A	0.174	-0.289	-0.002	0.000	0.002	0.002
Age	(0.756)	(0.612)	(0.002)	(0.001)	(0.004)	(0.005)
Mala	-7.453	-12.824	0.011	-0.007	-0.048	-0.088
Male	(18.717)	(14.872)	(0.053)	(0.017)	(0.087)	(0.114)
Education	12.607	-2.297	-0.031	0.008	0.086	0.060
Education	(13.840)	(11.071)	(0.043)	(0.013)	(0.069)	(0.095)
Income	0.263	0.706	-0.002	-0.001	0.002	0.004
Income	(0.812)	(0.650)	(0.002)	(0.001)	(0.004)	(0.005)
Dias land	0.304	-0.493	-0.016*	-0.003	-0.002	0.008
Rice land	(3.069)	(2.430)	(0.010)	(0.003)	(0.014)	(0.019)
Communist party member	24.087	45.331	-0.003	-0.013	0.102	0.244
Communist party member	(31.863)	(25.316)	(0.111)	(0.018)	(0.143)	(0.155)
Association	9.805	13.661	0.011	0.002	0.042	0.151
Association	(19.708)	(15.600)	(0.057)	(0.017)	(0.090)	(0.120)
Social events	16.39**	20.77***	-0.026	-0.009	0.066	0.150^{***}
Social events	(7.264)	(5.815)	(0.023)	(0.010)	(0.033)	(0.044)
Use the bridge daily	115.001***	80.583***	-0.159***	-0.037	0.483^{***}	0.535^{***}
	(27.763)	(22.221)	(0.041)	(0.026)	(0.080)	(0.088)
Use the bridge weekly	75.956**	78.431***	0.077	-0.014	0.374^{***}	0.459^{***}
Use the bridge weekly	(35.632)	(28.187)	(0.078)	(0.020)	(0.107)	(0.086)
Use the bridge twice a month	64.336**	34.362	-0.012**	-0.018	0.308***	0.244^{*}
	(28.015)	(22.368)	(0.048)	(0.017)	(0.105)	(0.145)
Use the bridge once a month	29.417	35.251*	0.103	0.039	0.223**	0.385
	(24.716)	(19.556)	(0.078)	(0.039)	(0.108)	(0.129)
Saturday	-16.426	-21.459	-0.031	-0.003	-0.147**	-0.240**
Sucarcay	(19.002)	(15.543)	(0.055)	(0.017)	(0.086)	(0.119)
Punish		20.558		0.009		0.137
		(4.954)		(0.008)		(0.042)
Guessed contribution of		0.722		-0.001		0.006
others		(0.081)		(0.001)		(0.001)
No guessed contribution of		151.746		-0.087		0.729
others	100.551	(26.502)	1.00.6	(0.043)	• • • • • ***	(0.069)
Constant	102.574	87.504	1.336	1.950	-2.390	-5.677
	(/1.//1)	(60.913)	(1.018)	(1.475)	(0.897)	(1.695)
	F-test	F-test	F-test	F-test	F-test	F-test
	(p-value)	(p-value)	(p-value)	(p-value)	(p-value)	(p-value)
H_0 : High reference = low	3.40	0.32	5.64	8.76	3.40	4.84
It is the set of the s	(0.067)	(0.013)	(0.018)	(0.003)	(0.065)	(0.028)
H_0 : Default at full = default	1.89	4.61	1.27	3.66	1.69	3.85
at zero	(U.1/1) Inducted	(U.U33)	(0.239) Inclusted	(U.U30)	(0.194) In alv: 1 - 1	(0.050) In alter de d
Experimenter dummy var.						
1NO. 01 0DS.	200	200	200	200	200	200
Adj. K2 / Pseudo K2	0.119	0.446	0.227	0.497	0.209	0.506

Table 2. OLS regressions on contribution and probit models on low and high contributions; reference contribution and default treatments

*, **, and *** denote that the coefficient is statistically significant at the 10%, 5%, and 1% levels, respectively.

In the second set of models, we include expectations about others' behavior and a variable capturing the subjective risk of punishment if one does not contribute to local public goods. There is also a strong positive correlation between own contribution and the expected contribution of others. The coefficient is 0.72, meaning that a one dong increase in the expectation of others' contribution increases the own contribution by 0.72 dong. This is fairly consistent with what others have found; for example Gächter and Renner (2010) found in a repeated public good game that a one unit increase in beliefs increases contributions by 0.54 tokens in the last period of the game (when there are no strategic motives to act as a conditional cooperator). Subjects who did not provide a guess contributed around 150,000 dong more than other subjects.

One should be careful not to draw too strong casual conclusions from the results regarding the link between guesses and contributions. As mentioned, the question about others' contribution was not incentivized, and it is not at all clear that subjects were able to separate their own preferences from what they thought others were doing. Moreover, the causality may in part go from own contribution to state expectations, rather than the other way around.¹⁴ However, it is interesting that the expectations about others' behavior do not affect the other parameter estimates to any large extent, with the exception that the impact of the current use of the bridge is reduced somewhat, and that membership in the communist party now has a weakly significant and positive effect on the contribution level. In particular, the coefficients for the various treatments are still of the same order of magnitude and remain significant. Consequently, if the guessed contribution of others captures conditional cooperation, then the effects of, e.g., a zero default contribution or a low reference contribution level is something different from conditional cooperation.

The punishment variable has a significant effect on contribution behavior. Subjects who thought they would be more likely to be punished if they did not contribute to local public goods (in general) gave more to the public good in our experiment, which follows intuition.

6. CONCLUSIONS

In this paper we analyze a field experiment with real contributions to an archetypical public good, a bridge, in rural Vietnam. In particular, we study the role of two types of social influence: *i*) conditional cooperation, i.e., that people may be more willing to cooperate if others do and *ii*) the effects of the default alternative, i.e. that people are often found to be influenced by the default alternative presented to them in the choice situation. Numerous studies have analyzed the role of conditional cooperation in laboratory experiments (see, e.g., Fischbacher, 2001; Fischbacher and Gächter, 2010) and for charitable giving (see, e.g., Alpizar et al., 2008; Shang and Croson, 2009) as well as the effects of defaults for the choice of private goods (see, e.g., DellaVigna and Malmeinder, 2006). Yet, as far as we know, no previous studies have tried to quantify the

¹⁴ There are at least two plausible psychological mechanisms behind such reversed causality: The false consensus effect, i.e., the tendency to overestimate the degree of agreement that others have with them (Ross et al., 1977), and simple cognitive anchoring effects (*Tversky* and *Kahneman, 1974*).

treatment effects of conditional cooperation and default alternatives on the voluntary contributions of a real local public good. We find significant and substantial effects of provision of reference information about what others are doing and of default alternatives, which is in line with previous findings in laboratory experiments and for charitable giving. For example, if people were informed that one of the most common contributions made by others was 100,000 dong (a relatively low contribution), they tended to contribute around 67,000 dong (or about 25%) less compared to when not saying anything about others' contribution. Similarly, a zero default contribution, compared to a treatment with no default contribution, reduced the contribution by about 54,000 dong, which is a substantial amount corresponding to almost 20% of the average contribution. These findings are important as they contribute to our general understanding of the determinants of contributions to a real public good, in particular in developing countries. This is important since there is much evidence that the ability to provide an adequate amount of public goods is crucial for economic and social development. The results are also potentially important from a more direct policy perspective at different levels. In Vietnam, many local public goods are funded by the villages themselves. Our experiment suggests that a matching fund voluntary contribution mechanism could be a useful instrument. Moreover, our results reveal that the behavior and contribution of subjects depend on the framing of the questions asked. However, from the perspective of the 200 households in the Giong Trom village in Vietnam, the most important result of this study is clearly that they now have a new and well-functioning concrete bridge in place.

REFERENCES

- Alpizar, F.; F. Carlsson; and O. Johansson-Stenman. 2008. Anonymity, Reciprocity, and Conformity: Evidence From Voluntary Contributions to a National Park in Costa Rica. Journal of Public Economics.Vol. 92. 1047-1060.
- Alpizar, F. and P. Martinsson. 2010. Don't Tell Me What to Do, Tell Me Who to Follow!
 Field Experiment Evidence on Voluntary Donations, Working Paper, Department of Economics. University of Gothenburg.
- Altmann, S. and A. Falk. 2009. The Impact of Cooperation Defaults on Voluntary Contributions to Public Goods. Working Paper.
- Andreoni, J. 1989. Giving with Impure Altruism: Applications to Charity and Ricardian Equivalence. Journal of Political Economy. Vol. 97. 1147–1458.
- Andreoni, J. 1990. Impure Altruism and Donations to Public Goods: A Theory of Warm-Glow Giving. Economic Journal. Vol. 100. 464–477.
- Bagnoli, M. and B. Lipman. 1989. Provision of Public Goods: Fully Implementing the Core through Private Contributions. Review of Economic Studies. Vol. 56. 583– 601.
- Bagnoli, M. and M. McKee. 1991. Voluntary Contribution Games: Efficient Private Provision of Public Goods. Economic Inquiry. Vol. 29. 351–366.
- Baker II, R.; J. Walker; and A. Williams. 2009. Matching Contributions and the Voluntary Provision of a Pure Public Good: Experimental Evidence. Journal of Economic Behavior and Organization. Vol.70. 122–134.
- Cadsby, C.; and E. Maynes. 1999. Voluntary Provision of Threshold Public Good with Continuous Contributions: Experimental Evidence. Journal of Public Economics. Vol. 71. 53–73.
- Cardenas, J. and J. Carpenter. 2008. Behavioral Development Economics: Lessons from Field Labs in the Developing World. Journal of Development Studies. Vol. 44. 337–64.
- Carpenter, J.; A. Daniere; and L. Takahashi. 2004a. Social Capital and Trust in Southeast Asian Cities. Urban Studies. Vol. 41. 853–874.
- Carpenter, J.; A. Daniere; and L. Takahashi. 2004b. Cooperation, Trust, and Social Capital in Southeast Asian Urban Slums. Journal of Economic Behavior and Organization. Vol. 55. 533–551.
- Cherry, T.; S. Kroll; and J. Shogren. 2005. The Impact of Endowment Heterogeneity and Origin on Public Good Contributions: Evidence from the Lab. Journal of Economic Behavior and Organization. Vol. 57. 357–365.
- Clark, J. 2002. House Money Effects in Public Good Experiments. Experimental Economics. Vol. 5. 223–231.

- Choi, J.; D. Laibson; and C. Madrian. 2004. Plan Design and 401(k) Savings Outcome. National Tax Journal. Vol. 57. 275–298.
- Cronqvist, H. and R. Thaler. 2004. Design Choices in Privatized Social-Security Systems: Learning from the Swedish Experience. American Economic Review. Vol. 94. 424–28.
- Croson, R. and M. Marks. 2000. Step Returns in Threshold Public Goods: A Meta- and Experimental analysis. Experimental Economics. Vol. 2. 239–259.
- DellaVigna, S. and U. Malmendier. 2006. Paying Not to Go to the Gym. American Economic Review. Vol. 96. 694–719.
- de Kwaadsteniet, E.; E. van Dijk; A. Wit; and D. de Cremer. 2008. 'How Many of Us Are There?': Group Size Uncertainty and Social Value Orientations in Common Resource Dilemmas. Group Processes Intergroup Relations. Vol. 11. 387.
- Dietz, T.; E. Ostrom; and P. Stern. 2003. The Struggle to Govern the Commons. Science. Vol. 302. 1907–1912.
- Dupuit, J. 1844. "De la Mesure de l'Utilité des Travaux Publics", Annales des Ponts et Chaussées, s. II, 2nd edition pp. 332 – 375 ; English translation "On the Measurement of the Utility of Public Works", by R.H. Barback, International Economic Papers (1952). No. 2. 83–110.
- Fischbacher, U. and S. Gächter. 2010. Social Preferences, Beliefs, and the Dynamics of Free Riding in Public Goods Experiments. American Economic Review. Vol. 100. 541–556.
- Fischbacher, U.; S. Gächter; and E. Fehr. 2001. Are People Conditionally Cooperative? Evidence from a Public Good Experiment. Economics Letters. Vol. 71. 397–404.
- Frey, B. and S. Meier. 2004. Social Comparisons and Pro-Social Behavior: Testing "Conditional Cooperation" in a Field Experiment. American Economic Review. Vol. 94. 1717–1722.
- Gächter, S. 2007. Conditional Cooperation: Behavioral Regularities from the Lab and the Field and their Policy Implications, in Frey, B. S., and Stutzer, A. (eds.): Economics and Psychology. A Promising New Cross-Disciplinary Field. CESifo Seminar Series, MIT Press.
- Gächter, S. and E. Renner. 2010. The Effects of (Incentivized) Belief Elicitation in Public Good Experiments. Experimental Economics. Vol. 13. 364–377.
- Hall, R. and C. Jones. 1999. Why Do Some Countries Produce so Much More Output per Worker than Others?. Quarterly Journal of Economics. Vol. 144. 83–116.
- Isaac, R.; D. Schmidtz; and J. Walker. 1989. The Assurance Problem in Laboratory Markets. Public Choice. Vol. 62. 217–236.
- Johnson, E. and D. Goldstein. 2003. Do Defaults Save Lives? Science. Vol. 302. 1338– 1339.

- Johnson, E.; J. Hershey; J. Meszaros; and H. Kunreuther. 1993. Framing, Probability Distortions, and Insurance Decisions. Journal of Risk and Uncertainty. Vol. 7. 35– 53.
- Kroll, S.; T. Cherry; and J. Shogren. 2007. The Impact of Endowment Heterogeneity and Origin on Contributions in Best-Shot Public Good Games. Experimental Economics. Vol. 10. 411–428.
- La Porta, R.; F. Lopez-de-Silanes; A. Shleifer; and R. Vishny. 1999. The Quality of Government. Journal of Law, Economics and Organization. Vol. 15. 222–279.
- Landry, C.; A. Lange; J. List; M. Price; and N. Rupp. 2006. Toward an Understanding of the Economics of Charity: Evidence from a Field Experiment. Quarterly Journal of Economics. Vol. 121. 747–782.
- List, J., and D. Lucking-Reiley. 2002. Effects of Seed Money and Refunds on Charitable Giving: Experimental Evidence from a University Capital Campaign. Journal of Political Economy. Vol. 110. 215–233.
- Löfgren, Å.; P. Martinsson; M. Hennlock; and T. Sterner. 2010. Does Experience Eliminate the Effects of a Default Option? – A Field Experiment on CO2-Offseting for Air Transport. Working Paper. Department of Economics. University of Gothenburg.
- Madrian, B. and D. Shea. 2001. The Power of Suggestion: Inertia In 401(k) Participation and Savings Behavior. Quarterly Journal of Economics. Vol. 116. 1149–1187.
- Marks, M. and R. Croson. 1998. Alternative Rebate Rules in the Provision of a Threshold Public Good: an Experimental Investigation. Journal of Public Economics. Vol. 67. 195–220.
- Ostrom, E.; J. Walker; and R. Gardner. 1992. Covenants With and Without a Sword: Self Governance is Possible. American Political Science Review. Vol. 86. 404–417.
- Ostrom, E. 1990. Governing the Commons: The Evolution of Institutions for Collective Action. New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Ostrom, E. 2009. A General Framework for Analyzing Sustainability of Social-Ecological Systems. Science. Vol. 325. 419-422.
- Palfrey, T. and H. Rosenthal. 1984. Participation and the Provision of Discrete Public Goods: a Strategic Analysis. Journal of Public Economics. Vol. 24. 171–193.
- Pichert, D. and K. Katsikopoulosa. 2008. Green Defaults: Information Presentation and Pro-Environmental Behavior. Journal of Environmental Psychology. Vol. 28. 63– 73.
- Rauchdobler, J.; R. Sausgruber; and J-R. Tyran. 2010. Voting on Thresholds for Public Goods: Experimental Evidence. Working paper. University of Innsbruck.
- Rondeau, D. and J. List. 2008. Matching and Challenge Gifts to Charity: Evidence from Laboratory and Natural Field Experiments. Experimental Economics. Vol. 11. 253–267.

- Rondeau, D.; G. Poe; and W. Schulze. 2005. VCM or PPM? A Comparison of the Performance of Two Voluntary Public Goods Mechanisms. Journal of Public Economics. Vol. 89. 1581–92.
- Ross, L.; D. Greene; and P. House. 1977. The False Consensus Effect: An Egocentric Bias in Social Perception and Attribution Processes. Journal of Experimental Social Psychology. Vol. 13. 279–301.
- Rutström, E. and N. Wilcox. 2010. Stated Beliefs versus Inferred Beliefs: a Methodological Inquiry and Experimental Test. Games and Economic Behavior. Vol. 67. 616–632.
- Schelling, T. 1960. The Strategy of Conflict. Harvard University Press. Cambridge Mass.
- Shang, J. and R. Croson. 2009. Field Experiments in Charitable Contribution: the Impact of Social Influence on the Voluntary Provision of Public Goods. Economic Journal. Vol. 119. 1422–1439.
- Soetevent, A. 2011. Payment Choice, Image Motivation and Contributions to Charity: Evidence from a Field Experiment. American Economic Journal: Economic Policy. Vol. 3. 180–205.
- Thaler R. and C. Sunstein. 2008. Nudge: Improving Decisions about Health, Wealth, and Happiness. Yale University Press. New Haven.
- Tversky, A. and D. Kahneman. 1974. Judgment under Uncertainty: Heuristics and Biases. Science. Vol.185. 1124–1130.

APPENDICES

Appendix 1.

Table A1. Descriptive results of the field experiment	S
---	---

Treatment Obs. Mean contribution		Share of contributions					
		in 1,000 dong (std. dev.)	= 0	= 100	= 200	= 300	= 400
Reference treatment	40	287.5 (199.7)	0.000	0.125	0.275	0.075	0.475
Low reference contribution	41	247.6 (132.3)	0.025	0.244	0.268	0.073	0.366
High reference contribution	39	284.6 (108.9)	0.000	0.128	0.282	0.205	0.385
Default at zero	38	245.3 (130.4)	0.040 0	0.132	0.263	0.079	0.342
Default at full	42	288.1 (141.3)	0.071	0.119	0.167	0.024	0.500

Table A2. Distribution of contributions for each treatment

Contribution	Reference	High reference contribution	Low reference contribution	Default zero contribution	Default full contribution
0	0	0	1	0	3
20	0	0	0	1	0
50	1	0	1	3	0
100	5	5	10	5	5
150	0	0	0	2	2
200	11	11	11	10	7
250	1	0	0	1	0
300	3	8	3	3	1
400	19	15	15	13	24
Total	40	39	41	38	42

Variable	Coefficient	P-value	
High reference contribution	-21.330	0.453	
Low reference contribution	-48.919	0.088	
Default at full contribution	-34.087	0.220	
Default at zero contribution	-11.615	0.683	
Household size	-2.363	0.671	
Age	0.869	0.262	
Male	1.551	0.936	
Education	24.976	0.076	
Income	0.041	0.957	
Rice land	0.012	0.997	
Communist party member	-38.557	0.265	
Association	-11.764	0.562	
Social events	0.011	0.880	
Use the bridge 1	51.725	0.069	
Use the bridge 2	-9.096	0.801	
Use the bridge 3	39.504	0.163	
Use the bridge 4	-8.767	0.725	
Day of experiment	-4.370	0.825	
Constant	103.721	0.141	
Experimenter dummy variables	Inclu	ıded	
No. of obs.	155		
Adj. R2	0.0	02	

Table A3. OLS regressions on guessed contribution of others

Appendix 2. Experimental instructions

Hello, as you may be aware, the Environmental Economics Unit of the Ho Chi Minh City University of Economics is considering several alternatives in constructing a concrete bridge in this village. My name is.....I am a representative of this organization and would like to ask you about your opinions on the construction of the bridge.

You and your neighbors will decide whether to build the concrete bridge or not. We are giving money to households and letting them decide how to use it. We are asking households to contribute from this money to fund the bridge construction. We will respect the choice of every villager. We won't evaluate whether your choice is right or wrong.

Now I would like to briefly introduce the bridge project. A new concrete bridge is being considered to be built to replace the degraded Câu Kinh Giữa. The new bridge would be a concrete bridge that will last about 20 years. The bridge would be 2 meters wide so even tractors can use the bridge. The bridge is a common asset, so everyone who is living in or out of the commune has the right to use it without paying any fee.

Now we would like to know your opinion about the possible construction of the concrete bridge. We are also talking with all other households in your village. The project will give 400,000 dong to each family in this neighborhood, which includes 200 families. Here is the agreement saying that 400,000 dong belongs to your family.

Note that you are in the group of 200 families living in this neighborhood and only these families are financially supported by the project. And now your family, together with other 199 families, has to decide whether the bridge should be built or not. Here is the information you need to consider to make your decision:

- Each family has 400,000 dong provided by the project.
- We would like to ask how your family would want to use this money. You can choose any amount to allocate to the construction of the bridge, from 0 dong to 400,000 dong.
- The concrete bridge will be established if all families together contribute at least 40 million dong. This means that if the total contribution is equal to or above 40 million dong, the project will use this money, add more funding in order to meet the costs of the bridge, and take the responsibility to build the bridge. If the total amount of money collected exceeds 40 million dong, the excess amount will be returned to your family according to the proportion you contributed.
- If the families are unable to contribute a total of 40 million dong, your contribution will be returned to you, and the concrete bridge will not be built."
- Your family is under absolutely no obligation to contribute any money to the concrete bridge, as the money is yours. Even if your family is not willing to contribute or is willing to contribute only a small amount, if the bridge goes into operation you will have the full right to use the bridge since the bridge is common property.

- No one in the commune, not even the officials, will know about your decision. We will keep your contribution information secret.

If the households are able to contribute 40 million dong in total, our project in cooperation with the Farmers' Association will start the construction in the next few months. I will give you several examples of the decision rule. Please look at the poster here.

[Example posters]

Example 1: Suppose your family contributes 100,000 dong to the concrete bridge. Also suppose that there is a total of 30 million dong contributed to the concrete bridge. Because the community did not meet the 40 million dong requirement, the concrete bridge is not built. The 100 000 dong your family contributed to the concrete bridge is not lost; it is simply returned to you. You will have 400,000 dong.

Example 2: Suppose your family contributes 200,000 dong to the concrete bridge. Assume the total contribution to the concrete bridge is 45 million dong. At this point, the concrete bridge will be built, regardless of who contributes what to the construction. The 5 million in excess of the contribution requirement will be returned to your family in proportion to your contribution. The return will be $(0.2/45) \times 5$ million = 22,000 dong. In total, your family will have 400,000 - 200,000 + 22,000 = 222,000 in cash and the concrete bridge will be built.

Example 3: Suppose your family contributes 100,000 dong to the concrete bridge. Assume the total contribution to the concrete bridge is 40 million dong. At this point, the concrete bridge will be built, regardless of who contributes what to the construction. In this case, your family will have 400,000 - 100,000 = 300,000 dong in cash and the concrete bridge will be built.

I hope you clearly understand the way you can contribute to the concrete bridge. We will keep your contribution decision anonymous. This means that no one in the village, not even the people working with us in the Farmers' Association, will know about your contribution.

<u>Treatment 1</u>

Of the 400,000 dong you are provided and that becomes your own asset, how much is your family willing to contribute to construction of the concrete bridge?

_____dong.

Finally, we would like to ask you one more question. How much do you think other families will contribute on average? _______dong. Your guess will be kept anonymous. No one will know your estimation.

<u>Treatment 2</u>

We have interviewed other households in this village and one of the most common contributions has been 300,000 dong.

[Experimenter: stop here for 1 minute so that the subject can think about the meaning of this information. You should not need to explain further if there is no query]

Of the 400,000 dong you are provided and that becomes your own asset, how much is your family willing to contribute to construction of the concrete bridge?

_dong.

Finally, we would like to ask you one more question. How much do you think other families will contribute on average? ________dong. Your guess will be kept anonymous. No one will know your estimation.

<u>Treatment 3</u>

We have interviewed other households in this village and one of the most common contributions has been 100,000 dong.

[*Experimenter: stop here for 1 minute so that the responder can think about the meaning of this information. You should not need to explain further if there is no query*]

Of the 400,000 dong you are provided and that becomes your own asset, how much is your family willing to contribute to construction of the concrete bridge?

_____dong.

Finally, we would like to ask you one more question. How much do you think other families will contribute on average? ________dong. Your guess will be kept anonymous. No one will know your estimation.

Treatment 4

[Experimenter: show the Card T4]

Of the 400,000 dong you are provided and that becomes your own asset, how much is your family willing to contribute to construction of the concrete bridge? Please move the token to the amount your family is willing to contribute.

___dong.

Finally, we would like to ask you one more question. How much do you think other families will contribute on average? _______dong. Your guess will be kept anonymous. No one will know your estimation.

Treatment 5

[*Experimenter: show the Card T5*]

Of the 400,000 dong you are provided and that becomes your own asset, how much is your family willing to contribute to construction of the concrete bridge? Please move the token to the amount your family is willing to contribute.

____dong.

Finally, we would like to ask you one more question. How much do you think other families will contribute on average? ______dong. Your guess will be kept anonymous. No one will know your estimation.

PAPER 2

SOCIAL CAPITAL AND PRIVATE ADAPTATION TO CLIMATE CHANGE: EVIDENCE FROM THE MEKONG RIVER DELTA IN VIETNAM

Pham Khanh Nam

ABSTRACT

Farmers in developing countries often face capital constraints in adapting to climate change. Can farmers' own social capital be utilized to facilitate the adaptation? This study uses four components of social capital – formal institutions, informal institutions, trust, and cooperativeness – to examine whether social capital is systematically linked to adaptation to climate change. The results suggest, in general, that social capital at the individual level does not affect farmers' private adaptation to climate change. Yet, some forms of social capital are significantly associated with the choice of some particular adaptation measures.

1.0 INTRODUCTION

Climate change is occurring in the low-lying Mekong River Delta of Vietnam (Wassmann *et al.*, 2004; Dasgupta *et al.*, 2007) and households in the area have developed their own adaptation strategies (Chinvanno *et al.*, 2008). Adaptation is an important way in which farmers respond to climate change (Adger *et al.*, 2003; Bradshawn *et al.*, 2004; Barbier *et al.*, 2008). The way in which affected farmers will adapt determines the scale of climate change impacts and hence their farming production and livelihoods. Knowledge of adaptation measures and factors affecting farmer households' portfolio of adaptation is important for policy makers' ability to facilitate relevant conditions for households' adaptation. Previous research on determinants of households' adaptation behavior has mainly focused on perceptions of impacts of climate change (Blennow and Persson, 2009), incentives and the ability to adapt (Hoffmann *et al.*, 2009), and environmental factors (Seo and Mendelsohn, 2008). The role of social capital in adaptation behavior has still not been investigated comprehensively (Pelling and High, 2005).

Chinvanno *et al.* (2008) report that in order to cope with the impacts of climate hazards, rice farmers in the Mekong River Delta in Vietnam have mainly used their own household resources and have concentrated their adaptation actions within their farm boundaries. Faced with limited financial capability, instead of investing in costly defensive efforts such as small scale irrigation, farming households have used alternative

adaptation strategies such as adjusting the crop calendar or using alternative crops and seed varieties. Studies on to what extent social capital determines households' choice of these adaptation measures may have distinct policy relevance since available resources such as social capital can be used up given chronic problems of human and financial resource constraints.

We define social capital as social networks and social skills owned by the individual and used to facilitate particular actions.¹⁵ We construct a set of social capital indexes that cover formal and informal social networks, trust, and cooperativeness. The first three social capital indexes are based on survey responses. The measure of cooperativeness is based on actual behavior of farmers in a public good experiment. We then examine how these social capital indexes are associated with farmers' choice of private adaptation to climate change.¹⁶

Social capital is multi-dimensional in nature. We attempt to understand how different dimensions of social capital affect the choice of adaptation measures. A number of qualitative studies have suggested that social capital is critical to adoption decisions in mitigating exposure to climate shocks (e.g., Adger, 2003; Pelling and High, 2005; Wolf *et al.*, 2010). Most previous quantitative studies on the relationship between social capital and adaptation have used groups and networks as indicators for social capital (e.g., Deressa *et al.*, 2009; Di Falco and Bulte, 2009b). Impacts of other dimensions of social capital such as trust and cooperation on climate change self-protection measures remain largely neglected. The present study contributes to the adaptation literature by providing empirical evidence on whether social capital in the form of trust and cooperation affects farmers' adaptation decisions. Almost previous studies have used social capital in the form of a single dimension or an aggregate index and were therefore not able to show how different components of social capital can have different effects on adaptation behavior.

Our study suggests that in general, social capital at the individual level does not affect farmers' behavior with respect to private adaptation. Some forms of social capital such as formal and informal institutions, however, are weakly associated with the choice of different climate change adaptation measures in farming activities. We find that experimentally-measured social capital in the form of cooperativeness is negatively associated with the choice of private adaptation to domestic water shortage, although the magnitude of the correlation is small.

¹⁵ This definition of social capital is in line with studies that view social capital as a person's social characteristics (Glaeser *et al.*, 2002; Carpenter *et al.*, 2004; Karlan, 2005). However, social capital can also be defined as the common property of a group that facilitates collective action for the mutual benefit of group members (Putnam, 2000; Krishna, 2004).

¹⁶ It can be argued that social networks per se can be a measure of adaptation to climate risk. Households may invest in social relationships, which in turn can act as an informal safety net mitigating the consequences of climate change, for example by risk sharing principles. However, we model social capital as an input in the adaptation process. The treatment of social capital as an adaptation measure is complicated (for example due to endogeneity problems) and is an interesting topic for future research.

2.0 HOW CAN SOCIAL CAPITAL AFFECT PRIVATE ADAPTATION TO CLIMATE CHANGE?

By adaptation we mean any private investment to reduce potential net damage due to climate change.¹⁷ Farmers use self-insurance efforts to reduce the adverse effects of climate change if it occurs. An individual's adaptation behavior is triggered by his or her recognition of the need to adapt (Fankhauser *et al.*, 1999), perceived climate risk, costs of adaptation, and potential reduction in damage (Kane and Shogren, 2000). Farmers' assets of social networks and social skills can possibly affect these determinants of their adaptation behavior.

Social networks can facilitate the exchange of information about possible climate change effects, facilitate the diffusion of adaptation innovations, and therefore help reduce adaptation costs. Deressa *et al.* (2009) showed that informal institutions such as peer networks may help increase people's awareness of climate change and its effects and promote sharing of experiences of adaptation options. The authors found that having access to farmer-to-farmer extension, the service in which trained farmers act as the extension agents to the neighboring farmers, can increase the likelihood of using specific adaptation measures such as "different crop varieties" and "planting trees." Social networks can also provide a channel to informal financial sources that relax farmers' credit constraints on investments in adaptation. Individuals' strong social ties can help speed up disaster responses and reduce exposure to external risks (Carter and Maluccio, 2003).

Does trust, a farmer's social skill, affect the choice of private adaptation measures? In the present study, trust is defined, broadly, as a belief that other people are generally trustworthy and as a social orientation toward other people (Glaeser *et al.*, 2000). Trust in information from local organizations can facilitate the recognition and understanding of climate changes. A trustworthy person, or a reciprocal person, is more likely to receive information or help from his or her peer network, therefore trustworthiness¹⁸ can facilitate the knowledge acquisition and guarantee a safety net that people can rely on to e.g. borrow money or assets in times of climatic variation or weather shocks. There have been, however, no empirical studies on links between trust and the choice of private adaptation measures.

Although social capital can facilitate collective action to overcome social dilemmas in joint adaptation projects, only a few studies have discussed this role (e.g., Adger 2000, 2003). Adger (2000) demonstrated that community social capital in the form of voluntary labor contribution has evolved to facilitate collective adaptation practices such as sea dike maintenance in the absence of governmental supports in Vietnam. It is, however, not clear how a farmer's cooperativeness affects his or her choice of private adaptation measures.

¹⁷ This definition is from Kane and Shogren (2000) and Mendelsohn (2000). Adaptation can also refer to actions that take advantage of new opportunities that climate change creates. In the context of this study, however, we ignore this part of the definition.

¹⁸ Trustworthiness is assumed to imply reciprocity (Fehr and Gächter, 2000; Ostrom and Walker, 2003).

Social capital may have negative effects on adaptation in two different ways: strong social ties may create investment disincentives and strong networks may hinder adaptation through distribution of false information. Di Falco and Bulte (2009) provided evidence of negative effects of kinship linkages on investment in adaptation. The authors found that the number of kinship links is negatively and significantly associated with the probability to invest in soil conservation. The kin network functions as an informal safety net and thus reduces the need to adapt. The network also contains a sharing norm and therefore reduces the incentives for adaptation. Also Agrawal *et al.* (2008) suggested that strong institutional norms such as the labor sharing norm in farming activities may attenuate the incentive to adopt individual adaptation measures such as crop diversification or migration. Strong social networks may act as a conduit for misperception of the climate change effects – false information is easily spread in a strong network. Wolf *et al.* (2010), for example, suggested that strong bonding networks could potentially raise the vulnerability of elderly people in the UK to the effects of heat waves.

3.0 THE VILLAGE AND ITS CLIMATE CHANGE PROBLEMS

The survey and experiment were undertaken in Giong Trom village in the Mekong River Delta in Vietnam in 2009. Table 1 summarizes the socio-economic characteristics of the sampled households. Most households in the village are engaged in rice farming. A typical farmer's household has around four members, where on average less than three members are in their working age. The average household head 49 years old and has only elementary education. The average size of the land a family is currently cultivating is also small, approximately half of a hectare. The average monthly household monetary income of about 95 USD per month is less than one USD per household member per day. About 30% of the surveyed farmers claimed to be moderately informed about climate change and its impacts. More than 60% of the surveyed farmers believed that climate change will have substantial effects on their farming practices and way of life.

The low-lying land of the village is subject to tidal flooding and saltwater intrusion from the coastline and the Mekong River. The village is also vulnerable to tropical storms and cyclones. Rural households within the study site have been severely affected by climate change (Oxfam, 2008) partly because of their dependency on climate-based resources such as domestic water, irrigation water, and soil for cultivation. The impacts of climate change on rice farming in the studied area could be severe in the dry season by the prolonged midseason dry spell (Chinvanno *et al.* 2008) or saline water intrusion because of sea level rise and low flow in the Mekong River, which can result a reduction of about 25% of rice yield (Khang *et al.* 2008).¹⁹

¹⁹ While Yu *et al.* (2010) projected a decline in rice yield by 4.3- 8.3 percent by 2050 for the whole Mekong River Delta, mainly because of a higher sea level rises and changes in temperature and precipitation.

Variable	Definition	Mean
		(std.dev.)
Income	Household monetary income in million dong per month	1.81
		(1.27)
Income	Dependence on farming income, i.e., ratio of monetary	0.35
ratio	income from farming over total monetary income	
Labor	Numbers of household members who can provide labor	2.72
		(1.45)
Land size	Size of farming lands in "cong" ($1 \text{ cong} = 1/10 \text{ hectare}$)	4.68
		(3.12)
Age	Age of household head in year	48.90
_		(13.84)
Education	Highest level of education attained: $1 = No \text{ schooling } (5\%); 2$	2.46
	= Grade 1-5 (54%); $3 = \text{Grade } 6 - 9 (31.5\%); 4 = \text{Grade } 10 - 10$	(0.76)
	12 (9%); $5 =$ Vocational school and above (0.5%)	
Head	Dummy = 1 if household head is male	0.62
Children	Number of children living in household	0.57
		(0.75)
Awareness	Level of information about climate change and its impacts:	2.62
	1=very poorly informed (21%); 2=poorly informed (24%);	(1.14)
	3=moderately informed (30.5%); 4=well informed (21%);	
	5=very well informed (3.5%)	
Belief	Dummy=1 if believe that climate change will cause a	0.68
farming	decrease in rice productivity within the next 20 years	
Belief	Dummy=1 if believe that climate is changing to such an	0.64
water	extent that it will substantially affect the family's ways of life	

Table 1. Households' characteristics description

4.0 MEASUREMENT OF SOCIAL CAPITAL AND ADAPTATION CHOICES AND ECONOMETRIC APPROACH

4.1 Adaptation Variables

The study focuses on private adaptation measures adopted in farming practices and domestic water usage. We separately examine impacts of social capital on each practice. The division is necessary because of crucial differences between these activities: the motivations for adaptation in productive activities may differ from those related to domestic water usage efforts. One practical challenge was to disentangle the responses to the climate stimulus from those linked to other stimuli such as the market, family condition, and public policy. We tackled this by asking farmers to report only measures their family had implemented in response to climate change in the past 5 years. The three questions asked were: "What have you done to adapt to unpredictability of weather and unusual timing of the seasons?", "What have you done to adapt to longer periods of drought?", and "What have you done to adapt to saline intrusion?"²⁰ Enumerators had a list of possible adaptation options, but to avoid framing bias, they did not present it to the respondents. Instead, the respondents verbally described their adaptation measures and the enumerators checked the corresponding options in the list.

Table 2 presents the statistics of the main adaptation measures.²¹ A household can take several measures in response to climate change. We are able to identify three main adaptive responses in farming practices.²² The most common response is "Different planting dates," which consists of activities such as varying planting or harvesting dates by adjusting planting techniques and use of water and fertilizers to ensure that critical growth stages do not coincide with uncomfortable climate conditions. The "Different varieties or crops" measure is a set of activities such as growing a number of different crops to reduce the risk of crop failure or using several varieties that are drought-tolerant or resistant to saline water. "Changing management practices" includes activities such as changing the use of capital, labor, chemicals, and fertilizers, or increasing the use of water conservation techniques. For domestic water issues, the climate change problems of the studied area relate mainly to the shortage of water in the dry season because of a prolonged drought period and intrusion of saline water. Villagers respond to the pressure by investing more in water storage equipment or changing water use practices.

Variables	Description	Mean
Farming practices		
Different planting	Dummy = 1 if adopted "Different planting dates"	0.60
dates	measure; 0 otherwise	
Different varieties or	Dummy = 1 if adopted "Different varieties or	0.43
crops	crops" measure; 0 otherwise	
Changing	Dummy = 1 if adopted "Changing management	0.40
management practices	practices" measure; 0 otherwise	
Domestic water usage		
More water storage	Dummy = 1 if adopted "More water storage"	0.74
	measure; 0 otherwise	
Changing water use	Dummy = 1 if adopted "Changing water use	0.51
practices	practices" measure; 0 otherwise	

 Table 2. Main adaptation measures

²⁰ To identify adaptation measures adopted in farming practices, enumerators asked these three questions. However, adaptation measures adopted in domestic water usage, they did not ask the question "What have you done to adapt to unpredictability of weather and unusual timing of the seasons?" since unpredictability of weather and unusual timing of the seasons do not affect domestic water usage.

²¹ All these measures are individual, meaning that all implementations, costs, and benefits are made, borne, and gained by individual households.

 $^{^{22}}$ The observed adaptation pattern is consistent with Chinvanno *et al.* (2008), who surveyed adaptation measures adopted by farmers in the Mekong River Delta in Vietnam in 2005. The seven-month long rainy season in the studied area allows for flexibility in adjusting the crop calendar. The two-crop cycle allows farmers to be flexible when selecting rice varieties.

4.2 Social Capital Indicators

We define social capital as the social networks and social skills possessed by individuals and used to facilitate particular actions. In particular, social networks or associational social capital are defined as a person's social relationship that enables him or her to benefit from interactions with others. Social skills, or behavioral social capital (Carpenter *et al.*, 2004; Grootaer *et al.*, 2004), are propensities of individuals to trust and cooperate with other individuals for mutual benefits. We use four indexes to reflect the multidimensional concept of social capital: a formal institution index and an informal institution index as associational social capital. We conducted a survey to measure social capital in the form of social networks and trust, and an economic experiment to measure social capital in the form of cooperativeness. We also used the survey to collect data on adaptation measures, farmers' awareness of and beliefs about climate change, and socio-economic characteristics of the farming households.

Formal institution index

The formal institution index captures the extent of a household member's participation in various types of non-governmental local organizations.²³ A person's participation in formal institutions may help him or her access formal information on climate change or new adaptation technologies. The diversity of membership, i.e., the number of formal associations participated in by family members, is used as a proxy indicator for formal institution in the estimation of adaptation in domestic water usage, whereas membership in the Farmers' Association is used as a proxy indicator for formal institution of adaptation in gractices.

Informal institution index

We use the size and usefulness of the network to proxy informal institution (Grootaer *et al.*, 2004). We asked a question addressing the size of the network, "About how many close friends do you have these days? These are people you feel at ease with, can talk to about private matters, or call on for help," and a question to assess the usefulness of the network, "If you suddenly needed a small amount of money enough to pay for expenses for your household for one week, how many people beyond your immediate household could you turn to who would be *willing* to provide this money?" The answers to the question on the usefulness of the network, so we decided to choose the number of close friends in the question on the size of the network, so we decided to choose the number of close friends as an indicator of informal institution in the econometric analysis.

Trust

We measure trust based on respondents' level of agreement on a 5-point scale with each of the following statements: "Most people who live in this village can be

²³ Formal institutions in the surveyed area include the Farmers' Association, the Women Association, the Red Cross, the Veterans' Association, the Elderly' Association, the Youth Union, and microcredit and religious groups.

trusted," "Most people in this village are willing to help if you need it," and "In this village, people generally do not trust each other in matters of lending and borrowing money." The first statement focuses on generalized trust and the other two on the extent of trust in the context of specific transactions. Later in the econometric analysis, since these three indexes of trust are strongly correlated and yield similar results, we only report generalized trust, i.e., responses to the statement "Most people who live in this village can be trusted." Trust in this study, therefore, implies a generalized trust in people living relatively nearby.

Cooperativeness

Cooperativeness in this study can be understood as the degree to which a participant in an experiment contributes voluntarily to the provision of public goods. To measure social capital in the form of cooperativeness, we use results of the natural field experiment in Carlsson *et al.* (2010). The experiment concerned funding a bridge for the village, devised as a threshold public good experiment in which villagers received an endowment from us and could opt to either keep the money or contribute some or everything to the bridge. There are about 200 households on both sides of the bridge that would probably benefit from the concrete bridge construction. They were all included in the experiment.

The public good experiment presents a social dilemma for the participating households since they have monetary incentives to free ride on the contributions of others. In standard public good experiments, contribution levels are normally considered as measurement of the cooperative behavior of participants. In the experiment, we need to control for heterogeneous demands for the public goods and for different contextual factors. We therefore construct the cooperativeness variable by running a regression on actual contributions against experimental context factors and household traits; see equation (1). Residuals of the regression, which equal actual contributions minus predicted contributions, will contain all components of the cooperativeness ($\hat{\varepsilon}$ in equation (2)).

$$x_i = \alpha + \beta G_i + \varepsilon_i \tag{1}$$

$$\widehat{\varepsilon_i} = x_i - \widehat{x_i} \tag{2}$$

where x_i is the contribution of household *i* in the experiment and G_i is a set of parameters controlling for the contexts of the experiment such as treatments, experimenters, and days of the experiment and for the socio-economic characteristics of household *i*. Included in G are variables representing household *i*'s demand for the public good in the experiment. The full list of variables in (1) and their parameters can be seen in the Appendix. The descriptive statistics of social capital indicators and their correlations can be seen in Tables 3 and 4.

 $^{^{24}}$ To be consistent with other social capital indicators in the analysis, we rescaled the residual values into a range from 0 to 10.

Variables	Description	Mean	Std.	Min	Max
			dev.		
Formal institution					
Number of	Number of formal	0.91	1.09	0	6
institution	associations participated in				
	by family members				
Farmers'	Dummy = 1 if a member of	0.12	0.32	0	1
Association	the household is a member				
	of the Farmers' Association				
Informal	Number of close friends	3.91	5.05	0	40
institution					
Trust	Trust in people who live in	3.18	1.21	1	5
	the same village				
Cooperativeness	Scaled cooperativeness	5.50	2.28	0	10
(scaled)					
Cooperativeness	Contribution residuals	-8.4e-07	111.56	-269.82	220.36
(raw)	before scaled				

Table 3. Descriptive statistics of social capital indicators

Table 4. Correlation coefficients of social capital indicators

	No. of	Famers'	Informal	Trust	Coop.	Coop.(raw)
	institution	Association	institution		(scaled)	
Number of	1.00					
institution						
Farmers'	0.36	1.00				
Association						
Informal	0.19	0.08	1.00			
institution						
Trust	0.07	0.07	0.07	1.00		
Cooperativeness	-0.12	0.03	0.01	-0.12	1.00	
(scaled)						
Cooperativeness	-0.12	0.03	0.01	-0.12	1.00	1.00
(raw)						

4.3 Sampling and Eeconometric Approach

Our data is a combination of experimental data and survey data. Subjects who participated in the economic experiment were also respondents in the survey. The experiment and the survey were conducted with all 200 households in the village.

As discussed in Section 2, an individual's adaptation behavior is determined by his or her knowledge of impacts of climate change and adaptation technology, perceived climate risk, costs of adaptation, and potential damage reduction. We can express the relationship in the simple model: $x^{j} = f(K^{j}, z^{j}, e)$, where x^{j} is the adaptation level of

farmer *j*, K^j is his or her knowledge function, z^j represents the farmer's ability to adapt, which implies a cost of adaptation, and *e* is an environmental factor. In turn, knowledge is a function of social capital and other socio-economic characteristics $K^j = g(sc^j, s^j)$,²⁵ and ability to adapt is also a function of social capital and household characteristics $z^j = h(sc^j, s^j)$. Combing the equations yields a reduced form $x_j^* = f(sc^j, s^j, e)$.²⁶ We assume that the functional form of *x* is linear in the explanatory variables and that the error term ε^j is identically and independently distributed as the normal distribution over the population, i.e.,

$$x^{j} = \alpha + \sum_{i=1}^{4} \beta_{i} s c_{i}^{j} + \sum_{i=1}^{8} \gamma_{i} s_{i}^{j} + \varepsilon^{j} \qquad (3)$$

We estimate two models: one for adaptation in farming practices where the dependent variables are "Different planting dates," "Different varieties or crops," and "Changing management practices" and one for adaptation in domestic water usage where the dependent variables are "More water storage" and "Changing water use practices." In each model, we estimate two sub-models: a model with social capital variables as shown in equation (3) and a model with awareness and belief variables replacing social capital variables. The purpose of the second sub-model is to confirm the robustness of results in the first sub-model through the direct effects of knowledge on adaptation behavior.

We estimate the models using a multivariate probit model, which allows unobserved disturbances in adaptation measures to be freely correlated by simultaneously modeling different adaptation choices as a function of a common set of explanatory variables.²⁷

5.0 RESULTS

Table 5 provides estimated results of multivariate probit models for farming practices, and Table 6 is for domestic water issues.^{28, 29} To quantify the marginal effects

²⁵ See Isham (2002) for a detailed model on how social capital enters in knowledge functions.

²⁶ Climate-related variables such as temperature and salinity can be inevitable arguments in the adaptation function. We, however, will not include these variables in the regressions since the sampled households in this study are in the same village and have relatively similar climate conditions.

²⁷ A binary choice model such as a probit or a logit model may be used. Each adaptation measure is modeled individually as discrete choice dependent variables and acts as a function of a set of explanatory variables. The approach is based on the assumption that discrete choices are competing, i.e., a farmer cannot choose two adaptation measures at the same time. Table 2, however, shows that a farmer household can choose more than one measure, so a binary choice model may not be appropriate.

²⁸ We also estimated univariate probit models for each of the adaptation measures. We then use the loglikelihood values of the multivariate and univariate probit models to do likelihood ratio tests and cannot reject the hypothesis of error correlations ($\chi^2(3)=42.71$, p-value<0.001, and $\chi^2(3)=12.54$, p-value<0.005, for the multivariate models for farming practices and domestic water in Tables 5 and 6).

²⁹ For each model, we first estimate a model with all forms of social capital and then another model without social capital in the forms of institutions and trust that could be correlated with the cooperativeness. The

of each social capital indicator and other explanatory variables on each of the unconditional probabilities of adaptation, we use the formula $\partial E(y_i|\mathbf{x})/\partial x_i = \varphi(\mathbf{x}'\widehat{\beta_i}) \times \widehat{\beta_{ij}}$ (Greene 2003, p. 668), where φ is the univariate standard normal density function and $\overline{\beta_{ij}}$ is the coefficient estimate of variable x_j on each adaptation measure y_i . Standard errors of marginal effects are calculated using the delta method. To gain insight on cross-adaptation relationships, we also calculated marginal effects of the explanatory variables on joint and conditional probabilities of adaptation. The estimated marginal effects are not consistently different from those for the unconditional probability. For the sake of simplicity, we do not report the marginal effects of the cross-adaptation.³⁰

The bottom part of Table 5 shows that all correlation coefficients between each of the three adaptation measures in farming practices are statistically significant, positive, and substantial in both model 1 and model 2, suggesting that the null hypothesis of independence across error terms of the three latent equations can be rejected. Specifically, in model 1, the error terms for "different planting dates" and "different varieties and crops" have the correlation coefficient of 0.52; for "different planting dates" and "changing management practices" it is 0.41 and for "different varieties and crops" and "changing management practices" it is 0.33. The significant correlation coefficients also mean that unobservable factors that increase the probability of adapting "different planting dates" or crops" or "changing management practice."

The multivariate probit estimation results show that social capital in various forms does not explain adaptation to climate change. The formal institution index, i.e., participation in the Farmers' Association, is not associated with choosing "different planting dates" and "changing management practices." The informal institution index does not explain the choice of "different planting dates" and "different varieties and crops." Trust does not affect the choice of adaptation measures either. Social capital in the form of cooperativeness does not influence the likelihood of farmers choosing a specific adaptation measure in their farming activities. However, we still observe that the "different varieties or crops" measure is more likely among farmer households who belong to the Farmers' Association; i.e., they possess more social capital in the form of formal institution. The average marginal effect suggests that if family members join the Farmers' Association, the probability of adopting "different varieties or crops" increases by approximately 24%. Households that possess more informal social capital are more likely to adopt the "changing management practices" measure. For each additional friend that family members have, the probability of adopting "changing management practices" increases by approximately 2%.

results are similar in two regressions so we only report results of the full model, which contains all social capital indicators. Correlation coefficients of social capital indicators can be seen in Table 4.

³⁰ The estimated marginal effects can be provided upon request.

	Model 1			Model 2		
	Different	Different	Changing	Different	Different	Changing
Danandant	planting	varieties	management	planting	varieties	management
Dependent	dates	or crops	practices	dates	or crops	practices
variable	Marg.	Marg.	Marg. Effect	Marg.	Marg.	Marg. Effect
	Effect	Effect	(std. err.)	Effect	Effect	(std. err.)
	(std. err.)	(std. err.)		(std. err.)	(std. err.)	
Social capital						
Farmers'	0.164	0.243**	0.018	-	-	-
Association	(0.131)	(0.121)	(0.124)			
Informal	-0.011	-0.009	0.020**	-	-	-
institution	(0.008)	(0.008)	(0.009)			
Trust	0.027	-0.027	0.026	-	-	-
	(0.033)	(0.033)	(0.033)			
Cooperativeness	-0.030*	-0.017	-0.025	-	-	-
	(0.017)	(0.017)	(0.017)			
Awareness and be	eliefs					
Awareness	-	-	-	-0.010	0.028	0.010
				(0.036)	(0.036)	(0.035)
Belief farming	-	-	-	0.013	0.207**	-0.044
				(0.085)	(0.086)	(0.082)
Socio-economic c	haracteristic	es.				
Income ratio	0.390**	0.198	0.288*	0.287*	0.176	0.261*
	(0.152)	(0.152)	(0.147)	(0.147)	(0.151)	(0.145)
Income	0.057	0.017	0.027	0.043	-0.002	0.029
	(0.035)	(0.033)	(0.033)	(0.033)	(0.033)	(0.032)
Land size	-0.009	-0.023	-0.007	-0.001	-0.021	-0.005
	(0.015)	(0.016)	(0.015)	(0.015)	(0.016)	(0.015)
Labor	0.070**	0.096***	0.015	0.076***	0.110***	0.017
	(0.030)	(0.029)	(0.029)	(0.029)	(0.030)	(0.028)
Age	0.004	0.005	0.004	0.004	0.006*	0.003
	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.003)
Education	0.099*	0.097*	-0.005	0.094	0.072	0.033
	(0.059)	(0.057)	(0.056)	(0.057)	(0.055)	(0.055)
Head	0.001	-0.102	-0.045	-0.012	-0.135	-0.052
	(0.083)	(0.083)	(0.083)	(0.084)	(0.086)	(0.083)
$\rho_{12} = 0.524 ** *$				$\rho_{12} = 0.545^{***}$		
$\rho_{13} = 0.407 ** *$				$\rho_{13} = 0.392^{***}$		
$\rho_{23} = 0.332^{***}$				$\rho_{23} = 0.317^{***}$		
Likelihood ratio test of dependence: 33.026				34.211		
p-value: 0.000				0.000		
Number of obs. = 182; Number of draw = 200						
Social capitalFarmers' AssociationInformal institutionTrustCooperativenessAwareness and be AwarenessBelief farmingSocio-economic c Income ratioIncomeLand sizeLaborAgeEducationHead $\rho_{12} = 0.524^{***}$ $\rho_{13} = 0.407^{***}$ $\rho_{23} = 0.332^{***}$ Likelihood ratio to p-value: 0.000	0.164 (0.131) -0.011 (0.008) 0.027 (0.033) -0.030* (0.017) eliefs - - haracteristic 0.390** (0.152) 0.057 (0.035) -0.009 (0.015) 0.070** (0.030) 0.004 (0.030) 0.004 (0.030) 0.099* (0.059) 0.001 (0.083) - est of dependent 182; Number	$\begin{array}{c} 0.243^{**} \\ (0.121) \\ -0.009 \\ (0.008) \\ -0.027 \\ (0.033) \\ -0.017 \\ (0.017) \\ \end{array}$ $\begin{array}{c} - \\ - \\ - \\ - \\ - \\ - \\ - \\ - \\ - \\ - $	$\begin{array}{c} 0.018\\ (0.124)\\ 0.020^{**}\\ (0.009)\\ 0.026\\ (0.033)\\ -0.025\\ (0.017)\\ \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} -\\ -\\ -\\ -\\ -\\ -\\ -\\ -\\ -\\ -\\ -\\ -\\ -\\ $		$\begin{array}{c c} - \\ & - \\ & - \\ & - \\ & 0.010 \\ (0.035) \\ -0.044 \\ (0.082) \\ \hline \\ 0.261* \\ (0.145) \\ 0.029 \\ (0.032) \\ -0.005 \\ (0.015) \\ 0.017 \\ (0.028) \\ 0.003 \\ (0.003) \\ 0.003 \\ (0.003) \\ 0.003 \\ (0.055) \\ -0.052 \\ (0.083) \\ \hline \end{array}$

Table 5. Multivariate probit estimate of adaptation in farming practices

The choice of adaptation measures in farming activities is statistically significantly associated with several socio-economic characteristics of farmers' households. Adoption of "different planting dates" and "changing management practices" such as change in use of fertilizer or pesticide is more likely among farmers who depend

on income from farming activities to a large degree. The number of available laborers in the household positively and significantly affects the likelihood of choosing "different planting dates" and "different varieties or crops." For each additional laborer in a household, the probability of adopting "different planting dates" and "different varieties and crops" increases by approximately 7% and 10%, respectively. Education level of the household head has a positive and significant impact at the 90 percent confidence level on the likelihood of choosing "different planting dates" and of choosing "different varieties and crops."

The pattern of the results of model 2, where the social capital variables are replaced with awareness and belief variables, is similar to the results of model 1. In general, knowledge variables do not influence the choice of adaptation measures. Only the belief variable is significantly associated with the "different varieties or crops" measure. More specifically, if farmers believe that climate change will cause a decrease in rice productivity within the following 20 years, their households are more likely to adapt the "different varieties or crops" measure. The magnitude of the effect is close to the effects of membership in the Farmers' Association on the choice of "different varieties or crops" in model 1.

Table 6 reports multivariate probit estimation results for adaptation related to domestic water shortage. The estimated correlation coefficients, i.e., unobserved factors influencing the decision to adopt "more water storage" and "changing water use practices," are significantly correlated at the 5% level in both model 1 and model 2. The correlation between these unobserved factors is positive and statistically significant, implying that the unobserved factors that increase the probability of adopting "changing water use practices" will also increase the probability of adapting "more water storage" or vice versa. The correlation also suggests that multivariate probit is a better model for the domestic water issue data. Most of the social capital measures cannot explain the choice of adaptation measures related to domestic water shortage problems. However, cooperativeness is negatively associated with "more water storage" at the 5% level. Choosing this adaptation measure is less likely among farmer households with a higher propensity to cooperate. The estimated marginal effects suggest that on a 10-unit scale, for every 1 unit increase in cooperativeness the probability of adopting the "more water storage" measure decreases by approximately 3.5%. Most of the socio-economic variables have insignificant impacts on the likelihood of adopting a measure, yet number of children is negatively associated with "changing water use practices." In model 2, neither knowledge variable is associated with choice of adaptation measures, confirming the results for model 1 - The forms of social capitals that are expected to facilitate knowledge accumulation do not influence private adaptation.

	Model 1		Model 2		
	More water	Changing	More water	Changing water use	
Dependent	storage	water use	storage	practices	
variable		practices			
	Marg. Effect	Marg. Effect	Marg. Effect (std.	Marg. Effect (std.	
	(std. err.)	(std. err.)	err.)	err.)	
Social capital					
Number of	0.025	-0.011	-	-	
institutions	(0.035)	(0.039)			
Informal	0.003	0.008	-	-	
institution	(0.007)	(0.008)			
Trust	0.001	0.019	-	-	
	(0.025)	(0.031)			
Cooperativeness	-0.035**	-0.016	-	-	
	(0.014)	(0.017)			
Awareness and beli	efs				
Awareness	-	-	0.015	0.046	
			(0.029)	(0.034)	
Belief water	-	-	-0.006	-0.054	
			(0.068)	(0.081)	
Socio-economic cha	iracteristics				
Income ratio	-0.028	-0.214	-0.060	-0.203	
	(0.112)	(0.136)	(0.112)	(0.137)	
Income	0.033	-0.010	0.033	-0.016	
	(0.031)	(0.034)	(0.031)	(0.033)	
Land size	0.001	-0.001	0.004	-0.001	
	(0.012)	(0.014)	(0.012)	(0.014)	
Labor	0.029	0.017	0.033	0.018	
	(0.024)	(0.027)	(0.024)	(0.027)	
Age	0.001	-0.000	0.001	-0.001	
	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.003)	
Education	0.059	0.015	0.060	0.029	
	(0.050)	(0.055)	(0.049)	(0.054)	
Head	-0.017	-0.025	-0.019	-0.034	
	(0.067)	(0.080)	(0.067)	(0.080)	
Children	-0.043	-0.154***	-0.035	-0.153***	
	(0.045)	(0.055)	(0.045)	(0.054)	
		$\rho_{12}=0.303**$	$\rho_{12} = 0.304 **$		
Likelihood ratio test of dependence:		5.932	6.261		
p-value:		0.015	0.012		
Number of obs. $= 2$	00				
Number of draw $= 200$					

Table 6. Multivariate probit estimate of adaptation in domestic water usages

6.0 DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION

Our study suggests that social capital at the individual level generally does not affect farmers' private adaptation to climate change. We, however, do observe that some forms of social capital are associated with some particular adaptation measures in farming activities and in domestic water issues. The magnitudes of these significant social capital coefficients are small, except the effect of Farmers' Association membership on "Different varieties or crops."

Our findings raise a question: Why do a number of social capital measures not explain the choices farmers make with respect to private adaptation measures? As discussed in Section 2, the main roles of social capital in private adaptation are to facilitate information transfer and labor/financial transfer. We argue whether these roles depend on the nature of adaptation measures. If the adaptation requires only low-end technology or less effort, social capital may not be an important factor. Our research results support this argument. Saline intrusion that affects household's domestic water usage is relatively easy to detect. Implementation of adaptation measures such as "more water storage" and "change water use practices" is not a matter of high-end technology such that a household relies on a formal organization for instructions or needs a friend network to confirm the reliability of the measure. In addition, these adaptation measures require only limited labor and money. In farming practices, since the "changing varieties" or crops" measure may require some special expertise, formal institutions appear to play a role. "Changing management practices," which involves changes in the use of capital and labor, may require the ability to network to share capital and labor - in our case proxied by the number of close friends. Otherwise, social capital in the form of formal and informal institutions does not play an important role in private adaptation.

We also show that trust, defined in this study as the extent to which one trusts people in general, is not associated with farmers' choice of any private adaptation measures in farming practices or in domestic water issues. We propose some reasons for the rejection of the null hypothesis that trust can facilitate both the recognition of changes in the climate and an understanding about climate risk. The choice of adaptation measures is a process that depends on the recognition of the need to adapt, the incentive to adapt, and the ability to adapt (Frankhauser et al., 1999). The recognition element of the adaptation decision, where trust is hypothesized to play a role, is empirically proven to be affected by social capital in the form of social networks. Since networks and trust seem to be associated, possible effects of trust on the adaptation decision become blurred. In addition, whether trust is associated with adaptation also depends on the nature of the adaptation measures. Besides the role of trust or cooperation in the recognition element, the propensity to trust and cooperate is often needed for joint adaptations. In the present study, adaptation investments in farming practices are undertaken to secure private income. It is privately rational to respond to climate change also in the absence of social skills such as trust and cooperation. As the present study does not measure trustworthiness, the relationship between trustworthiness and the choice of private adaptation is open for future research.

Empirical research related to collective action and climate change adaptation has suggested that cooperation is necessary for joint adaptation measures to occur (Adger, 2003). So far, however, there has been little discussion about the role of cooperativeness in individual adaptation choices. We show evidence that a farmer's higher propensity to engage in cooperation, which is measured by a public good experiment, in some specific contexts can deteriorate the likelihood of choosing an individual adaptation measure; in our case it slightly reduces the probability of adopting the "more water storage" measure in response to domestic water shortage due to a salinity problem. In our specific case, we observe that joint adaptation solutions to the problems of domestic water shortage can potentially be achieved by using collective action to build a common water storage tank or to dig to find water for a public well.³¹ We argue that a person with a higher cooperativeness index may have a stronger belief in joint adaptation solutions and therefore reduce investments in private measures. Our measure of cooperativeness is context free since we took out the experimental context effects such as the effects of treatments and demand for the public good when constructing the cooperativeness index. The result is in the line with a set of empirical evidence about adverse effects of social capital on economic behavior (Anderson and Francois, 2008; Baland et al., 2009; Di Falco and Bulte, 2009a, b). While these studies elaborated the concept of "extended family," which is one of the key components of social capital in developing countries, our results provide evidence regarding another key form of social capital - individuals' propensity to engage in cooperation. However, these negative sides of social capital do not imply that it is useless in adaptation management processes. It clarifies to policy makers which types of incentives to use in attempting to cope with future changes in climate. For example, in villages where villagers are prone to engage in collective action, i.e., they have a high propensity to engage in cooperation, incentives should target joint adaptation measures rather than private solutions.

Although private adaptation is a key measure in dealing with climate change, this paper's findings do not support the arguments for developing rural institutions in order to enhance private adaptation to climate change in rural Vietnam, especially with low-end adaptation technologies.

³¹ The village's ground water geology makes private wells almost impossible to build due to high costs.

REFERENCES

- Adger, W. 2000. Institutional Adaptation to Environmental Risk Under the Transition in Vietnam. Annals of the Association of American Geographers. Vol. 90. 738–758.
- Adger, W. 2003. Social Capital, Collective Action and Adaptation to Climate Change. Economic Geography. Vol. 79. 387–404.
- Agrawal, A.; C. McSweeney; and N. Perrin. 2008. Local Institutions and Climate Change Adaptation. World Bank Social Development Notes. No.113.
- Anderson, S. and P. Francois 2008. Formalizing Informal Institutions: Theory and Evidence from a Kenyan Slum, in: E. Helpman (ed.) Institutions and Economic Growth (Cambridge: Harvard University Press). 409–451.
- Anderson, L.; J. Mellor; and J. Milyo. 2004. Social Capital and Contributions in a Public Goods Experiment. American Economic Review Papers and Proceedings. Vol. 94. 373–376.
- Baland, J-M.; C. Guirkinger; and C. Mali. 2011. Pretending to be Poor: Borrowing to Escape Forced Solidarity in Cameroon. Economic Development and Cultural Change. In Press.
- Barbier, B.; H. Yacouba; H. Karambiri; and B. Somé. 2009. Human Vulnerability to Climate Variability in the Sahel: Farmers' Adaptation Strategies in Northern Burkina Faso. Environmental Management. Vol.43. 790–803.
- Blennow, K. and J. Persson. 2009. Climate Change: Motivation for Taking Measure to Adapt. Global Environmental Change. Vol. 19. 100–104.
- Bradshaw, B.; H. Dolan; and B. Smit 2004. Farm-Level Adaptation to Climatic Variability and Change: Crop Diversification in the Canadian Prairies. Climatic Change. Vol. 67. 119–141.
- Carlsson, F; O. Johansson-Stenman; and N. Pham. 2010. Funding a New Bridge in Rural Vietnam: A Field Experiment on Conditional Cooperation and Default Contributions. Working Paper series. Department of Economics. University of Gothenburg.
- Carpenter, J.; A. Daniere; and L. Takahashi. 2004. Cooperation, Trust, and Social Capital in Southeast Asian Urban Slums. Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization. Vol. 55. 533–551.
- Carter, M. and J. Maluccio. 2003. Social Capital and Coping with Economic Shocks: An Analysis of Stunting of South African Children. World Development. Vol. 31. 1147–1163.
- Chinvanno, S; S. Souvannalath; B. Lersupavithnapa; V. Kerdsuk; and N. Thuan. 2008. Strategies for managing climate risks in the Lower Mekong River Basin: a placebased approach. In: Leary, N; J. Adejuwon; V. Barros; I. Burton; J. Kulkarni; R. Lasco (eds.) Climate change and adaptation. Earthscan. London. 228–246

- Dasgupta, S.; B. Laplante; C. Meisner; D. Wheeler; and J. Yan. 2007. The Impact of Sea Level Rise on Developing Countries: A Comparative Analysis. World Bank Policy Research Working Paper 4136.
- Di Falco, S. and E. Bulte 2009a. The Dark Side of Social Capital. Working Paper. Wageningen University.
- Di Falco, S. and E.H. Bulte 2009b. Social Capital and Weather Shocks in Ethiopia: Climate Change and Culturally-Induced Poverty Traps. Working Paper. Wageningen University.
- Fehr, E. and S. Gächter. 2000. Fairness and Retaliation The Economics of Reciprocity. Journal of Economic Perspectives. Vol. 14. 159–81.
- Frankhauser, S.; J. Smith; and R. Tol. 1999. Weathering Climate Change: Some Simple Rules to Guide Adaptation Decisions. Ecological Economics. Vol. 30. 67–78.
- Glaeser, E.; D. Laibson; J. Scheinkman; and C. Soutter. 2000. Measuring Trust. Quarterly Journal of Economics. Vol. 65. 811–46.
- Glaeser, E.; D. Laibson; and B. Sacerdote. 2002. An Economic Approach to Social Capital. Economic Journal. Vol. 112. F437–F458.
- Greene, W. 2003. Econometric analysis Fifth edition. Prentice Hall.
- Grootaert, C.; D. Narayan; V. Jones; and M. Woolcock. 2004. Measuring Social Capital: An Integrated Questionnaire. World Bank Working Paper. No. 18.
- Hoffmann, V.; D. Sprengel; A. Ziegler; M. Kolb; and B. Abegg. 2009. Determinants of Corporate Adaptation to Climate Change in Winter Tourism: An Econometric Analysis. Global Environmental Change. Vol. 19. 256–264.
- Isham, J. 2002. The Effect of Social Capital on Fertiliser Adoption: Evidence from Rural Tanzania. Journal of African Economies. Vol. 11. 39–60.
- Kane, S. and J. Shogren 2000. Linking Adaptation and Mitigation in Climate Change Policy. Climatic Change. Vol. 45. 75–102.
- Karlan, D. 2006. Using Experimental Economics to Measure Social Capital and Predict Financial Decisions. American Economic Review. Vol. 95. 1688–1699.
- Khang, N.; A. Kotera; T. Sakamoto; and M. Yokozawa. 2008. Sensitivity of Salinity Intrusion to Sea Level Rise and River Flow in Vietnamese Mekong Delta – Impacts on Availability of Irrigation Water for Rice Cropping. Journal of Agricultural Meteorology. Vol. 64. 167–176.
- Krishna, A. 2004. Understanding, Measuring and Utilizing Social Capital: Clarifying Concepts and Presenting a Field Application from India. Agricultural System. Vol. 82. 291–305.
- Mendelsohn, R. 2000. Efficient Adaptation to Climate Change. Climatic Change. Vol. 45. 583–600.
- Ostrom, E. and J. Walker (eds.) 2003. Trust and Reciprocity. New York: Russell Sage.

- Oxfam 2008. Vietnam: Climate Change, Adaptation and Poor People. Oxfam in Vietnam. Hanoi.
- Pelling, M. and C. High 2005. Understanding Adaptation: What can Social Capital Offer Assessments of Adaptive Capacity? Global Environmental Change. Vol. 15. 308– 319.
- Putnam, R. 2000. Bowling Alone: the Collapse and Revival of American Community. Simon and Schuster. New York.
- Seo, N. and R. Mendelsohn. 2008. Animal Husbandry in Africa: Climate Change Impacts and Adaptations. African Journal of Agricultural and resource Economics. Vol. 2. 65–82.
- Smit, B. and J. Wandel. 2006. Adaptation, Adaptive Capacity, and Vulnerability. Global Environmental Change. Vol. 16. 282–292.
- Wassmann, R.; N. Hien; C. Hoanh; and T. Tuong. 2004. Sea Level Rise Affecting the Vietnamese Mekong Delta: Water Elevation in the Flood Season and Implications for Rice Production. Climatic Change. Vol. 66. 89–107.
- Wolf, J.; W. Adger; I. Lorenzoni; V. Abrahamson; and R. Raine. 2010. Social Capital, Individual Responses to Heat Waves and Climate Change Adaptation: An Empirical Study of Two UK Cities. Global Environmental Change. Vol. 20. 44– 52.
- Yu, B.; T. Zhu; C. Breisinger; and N. Hai 2010. Impacts of Climate Change on Agriculture and Policy Options for Adaptation: the Case of Vietnam. IFPRI Discussion Paper 01015.

APPENDIX

Table A1. OLS estimate of equation (1)

Variable	Coeff.	P-value
High social information (treatment dummy)	-15.45	0.58
Low social information (treatment dummy)	-66.37	0.02
Default at full contribution (treatment dummy)	-19.35	0.48
Default at zero contribution (treatment dummy)	-53.59	0.06
Household size (number of people living in the household)	5.21	0.38
Age (age of household's head)	0.12	0.87
Education (years in school of household's head)	15.89	0.25
Income (household monthly income in million dong)	8.10	0.30
Land size (size of farming land in "cong", $1 \text{ cong} = 1/10$ hectare)	0.93	0.76
Communist party member (=1 if being a member, 0 otherwise)	32.59	0.31
Association (=1 if a member in an association, 0 otherwise)	12.78	0.52
Gender of household head (=1 if male)	-7.58	0.68
Use the bridge (=1 if everyday)	118.65	0.00
Use the bridge (=1 if maximum 3 times a week)	81.37	0.02
Use the bridge (=1 if 2 times a month)	65.12	0.02
Use the bridge (=1 if 1 time a month or less)	32.35	0.19
Day of experiment (treatment dummy)	-15.88	0.41
Constant	107.44	0.14
Experimenter dummy variables	Included	Included
No. of obs.	200	
Adj. R2	9.35%	